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REPORT FROM THE CHAIRMAN

h[fehj\hecj^[Y^W_hcWd
Dear Shareholder
The 2010 financial year has been a significant period in the development of your Company. I am immensely
pleased with the progress we have made and excited by the anticipated further development over the coming
year and beyond. The past year has been definitive for the Company, as we have grown from a mineral
explorer into a diversified, income generating resource company. The coming year will be equally definitive,
as we intend to expand our aluminum business internationally and capitalise on the immense potential of our
silica, gold and base metal projects.
In January 2010 the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Alreco Pty Ltd, acquired the Salt Slag
business of Sims Aluminum Pty Ltd in Moolap, Victoria. This acquisition resulted in immediate income
generation for the Company and to the 30th June 2010 Alreco Pty Ltd achieved a profit of $1,007,970 before
pre-operational expenses. We have been upgrading the processing technology on site, which will result in a
truly closed-loop, landfill-free solution for this significant aluminum industry waste stream. At the time of this
report we are well advanced in the upgrade, which will significantly increase our revenues and open the door
to expansion into the USA, Canada, Europe and beyond. Please refer to the review of operations report for
detailed analysis of the aluminum division.
Our silica division continues to strengthen, and we are engaged with a number of parties showing
considerable interest for off take and the development of a silicon smelter in Tasmania. We remain confident
of development in this respect.
The Company’s other mineral exploration assets also continue to be enhanced, through the Company’s
exploration programmes for gold and base metals in Tasmania and ongoing pre-feasibility of the 520,000 oz
Miyabi Gold Project located in Tanzania. Again, please refer to review of operations for more detailed analysis
of our exploration projects.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank our employees and contractors for their commitment to the
Company and particularly commend the Alreco Pty Ltd employees for their enthusiasm and commitment to
their new employer. I acknowledge the tireless efforts of our Managing Director, Frank Rogers and Executive
Director, Ben Mead.
Your board of directors is looking forward to an exciting year ahead for the Company and we thank you for
your continued support.
Yours sincerely

Basil Conti
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

Revenue from continuing operations

Revenues

Results

2010

2010

$

$

2,855,239

-

Loss before income tax expense

(2,022,245)

Income tax expense

-

Loss attributable to members of
Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited

(2,022,245)

INTRODUCTION
The 2010 Financial Year was a
definitive period for Macquarie
Harbour Mining Limited (MHM),
heralding the transition from
mineral exploration into an
income producing, diversified
resources company. The mineral
exploration assets that were held
at the Company’s Initial Public
Offer in 2007 are still largely
retained and under development,
and the diversification into the
aluminium industry has provided
important income and substantial
growth potential.
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS –
ALUMINIUM
On 18 January 2010, MHM –
through wholly-owned operating
subsidiary (Alreco) Pty Ltd –
commenced operation of the
Company’s Aluminium Salt Slag
business located in Moolap,
Victoria. This was a significant
event for the Company, the
culmination of an extensive
assessment and negotiating
period for the business
acquisition, and signifying the
Company’s development into
an income producing entity with
significant growth potential.
OVERVIEW
Alreco now owns the exclusive
global rights to a proprietary
technology for the processing of
Aluminium Salt Slag.

Aluminium Salt Slag is a waste
stream that results from the
recycling of aluminium, a byproduct from recyclers that has
traditionally been placed in
landfill. Due to regulatory changes
by the EPA, this material can no
longer be disposed in landfill
and this has presented a major
problem for the industry. Without
a viable solution the secondary
aluminium industry cannot
continue to operate using the
existing highly-efficient yet wastegenerating processes.
Alreco’s proprietary technology,
the ALNAK technology, processes
Salt Slag and separates it into
its individual components of
aluminium metal (10-20%),
aluminium oxide (30-40%) and
a salt and potassium chloride
blend (50%). The technology
results in total waste treatment
and production of aluminium
and other saleable products. The
technology removes the need for
any portion of the Salt Slag to be
sent to landfill.
The ALNAK technology has
significant environmental benefits
including;
» reduced energy consumption;
the energy used in the recycling
of aluminium recovered from Salt
Slag is 95% less than the energy
required to produce aluminium
from bauxite ore
» recycling of salt, potash and
aluminium oxide; all valuable

commodities that were previously
consigned to landfill
» avoidance of hazardous material
in landfills
Alreco processes all of the
Aluminium Salt Slag produced
in Australia, under contracts with
Alcoa Australia Rolled Products
Pty Ltd (Alcoa), a whollyowned subsidiary of Alcoa, Inc.
(NYSE:AA) and Sims Aluminium
Pty Ltd (Sims), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Sims Metal
Management Limited (ASX:SGM).
Alreco also processes other
wastes for Sims, including NonSalt Slag and Aluminium Dross.
Alreco also has a program to
progressively process previously
land filled Salt Slag to recover the
valuable commodities. The first
landfill that will be reprocessed
is owned by Alcoa, and contains
160,000 tonnes of Salt Slag.
There is significant potential to
expand the business overseas,
with opportunities under
consideration in the USA, Canada,
Europe and South Africa. Alcoa,
Inc. has publically stated that
by 2015 the company wishes to
end the land filling of aluminium
Salt Slag throughout their global
operations. Alreco and Alcoa, Inc.
are in discussions for Alreco to be
Alcoa’s global partner to assist in
achieving this goal.
BACKGROUND
Salt Slag (known as Salt Cake in
the United States) is the waste
material remaining after the
recycling of aluminium dross (a
by-product of the aluminium
production process caused by
partial oxidation of the molten
metal surface) or aluminium scrap
metal in a rotary furnace. Salt Slag
typically has a high aluminium
oxide, salt and potassium chloride
content.
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The disposal of Salt Slag is a
key issue for the aluminium
industry due to its hazardous
nature. Salt Slag has been
classified as hazardous waste in
all States of Australia and most
countries of Europe due to the
leachable chloride content in Salt
Slag. It has traditionally been
disposed of in landfill, however,
increasing costs of land filling
and restrictions on land filling
have increased the desire from
the industry for an alternative
solution. Within Australia the EPA
no longer permits the land filling
of Aluminium Salt Slag, and other
environmental agencies around
the world have either banned or
have tightened the limits on what
can be dumped in landfill. In the
United States, Aluminium Salt
Slag (or Salt Cake as it is known
in the USA), can be land filled
however aluminium companies
are becoming increasingly aware
of the environmental legacy this
creates, and the value of the
materials that can be recovered
from the Salt Cake through

application of the ALNAK
technology.
The technology employed by
Alreco removes the need for
any of this material to be land
filled, resulting in significant
financial benefits for industry and
environmental benefits for society
at large. The dumping of Salt
Slag presents an environmental
and financial liability in perpetuity,
and for this reason the Alreco
process will revolutionise the
industry with regard to this
significant waste stream.
The aluminium industry has an
inherent desire to reprocess
aluminium dross and to recycle
aluminium as the energy cost is
only 5% of the cost to produce
aluminium from bauxite ore.
It has been stated by the
Australian Aluminium Council
that in 2006, primary aluminium
production resulted in 3.1 tonnes
of CO2 per tonne of metals
produced. At these levels the
ALNAK process will reduce

CO2 output by approximately
2.945 tonnes per tonne of metal
produced to 0.15 tonnes of
CO2 per tonne of aluminium
produced. Furthermore, by
recycling, the industry portrays an
image of being environmentally
responsible.
Alreco acquired the exclusive
global rights to the ALNAK
technology during January 2010.
Prior to this, the technology and
associated relationship with Alcoa
was developed a Joint Venture of
three companies (the Three Party
JV), including two companies
associated with two Directors of
MHM (Frank Rogers and Peter
Robertson).
In January 2005 Alcoa of Australia
Pty Limited, trading as Alcoa
World Alumina Australia (Alcoa),
and the Three Party JV entered
into a contract that permitted
up to 2,000 tonnes of Salt Slag
and aluminium dross from
Alcoa’s Moolap landfill site to
be processed to determine the

Alcoa Smelter

Cement Works

9ha Lease Site

Alreco

Moolap Landfill Site

Geelong

Alreco plant location: Moolap, Victoria
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Alreco Operations: Moolap, Victoria
feasibility of a full-scale recovery
and remediation of all Salt
Slag and associated material at
Moolap. This contract included
the intention, should the initial
trial be successful and subject to
Alcoa, Environmental Protection
Authority (EPA) and Council
approval, for the parties to
negotiate an agreement for the
recovery and remediation of all
Point Henry Salt Slag landfill areas
on the same principles.
In April 2006 the results of the
initial trial were presented to
Alcoa and Alcoa agreed the
viability of the ALNAK technology.
In October 2007, the Three Party
JV executed a formal agreement
with Alcoa regarding the removal
of the Salt Slag at the Alcoa’s
Moolap landfill, containing around
160,000 tonnes of Salt Slag.
During 2009, the Independent
Directors of MHM approached
the two Directors associated with
the Three Party JV to consider
an acquisition of the rights to
the technology and ability to

process the Moolap landfill and
ongoing Salt Slag produced by
Alcoa. The Independent Directors
appointed Grant Thornton to
act as corporate advisors for the
transaction, and commissioned
the Carnot Group to provide an
independent technical report
regarding the ALNAK process.
Concurrently, the Independent
Directors engaged in negotiations
with Sims Aluminium Pty Ltd to
acquire one of Sims’ businesses
in Moolap that held the necessary
permits for the processing of
Aluminium Salt Slag. Sims had
been attempting to develop a
closed-loop, landfill-free solution
for Salt Slag without success
and the Independent Directors
identified an opportunity to
acquire this business from Sims
and upgrade the operation to
the specifications of the ALNAK
technology.
In January 2010, a simultaneous
transaction occurred whereby
MHM acquired the Sims Salt Slag

business, the exclusive global
rights to the ALNAK technology,
the rights to process the Alcoa
landfill at Moolap and through a
sub-contracting arrangement with
the Three Party JV, the rights to
process ongoing Alcoa Salt Slag
production, a contract with Sims
to process Aluminium Salt Slag
and Aluminium Dross and the
first right of refusal to acquire two
additional technologies under
development for processing
Spent Pot Lining and Non-Metallic
Product (two additional Aluminium
Industry waste streams).
MHM, through wholly-owned
operating subsidiary Alreco,
recommenced operations on 18
January 2010 at the Moolap Salt
Slag processing facility with a
view to progressively upgrading
the technology at the plant
without interruptions to ongoing
operations.
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HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT
OF THE ALNAK TECHNOLOGY

Tasmania and further testing by
Metcon.

The problem of Salt Slag was
brought to the attention of
Rogers Chemical Pty Ltd (Rogers
Chemical, a subsidiary of Mining
& Primary Development Trust,
MPDT, ultimately held by Frank
Rogers) in 1998, in light of
proposed Australian legislation
to ban the landfill of this waste as
its designation had changed to
be characterised as hazardous.
This legislation came into effect
in 2000. Rogers Chemical and
various consultants undertook
research into the aluminium
industry and what had been
done globally to address the
Salt Slag problem. Patent and
literature research was conducted
and, although processes were
available that dealt with segments
of the problem, no holistic style
approach had been taken. Some
of the technologies were very
complex and capital intensive and
generally impractical given the
magnitude of the waste produced.

The Moolap material was crushed
to 2 mm to simulate plant
conditions, with any obvious
beads of metal removed from
the jaw crusher to allow the slag
material to pass through the
crusher without blockage. The
remainder of the material (-2
mm) underwent an acid digest
to determine the metal content
of the fraction. The amount of
metal removed prior to crushing
averaged ~4% and that remaining
in the -2 mm material averaged
~6%.

MPDT has had a long association
with the mining industry and
consequently a different approach
was taken to the treatment of
Salt Slag. Tests were conducted
on samples of waste from Alcoa’s
Yennora operations and a process
was developed in which the Salt
Slag is reduced to its primary
constituents of aluminium metal,
salt and Non-Metallic Produce
(NMP or Aluminium Oxide)
comprising various oxides of
aluminium and alloying metals.
Initial laboratory test work
was undertaken under Rogers
Chemical’s supervision by Metcon
Laboratories, part of the AMMTEC
Limited group. These tests have
been supported by larger scale
tests conducted on samples
of Salt Slag removed from the
Moolap landfill in 2005. Material
from other sources was processed
using a 1 tonne/hr pilot plant in
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The salt product and NMP
produced from the pilot plant and
Metcon’s own bench tests were
also tested to determine their
chemical analysis and particle
sizes.
As part of the Due Diligence
process for the Aluminium Salt
Slag business acquisition, the
Independent Directors of MHM
appointed Independent Technical
Experts, the Carnot Group, to
review the technology. The
Independent Directors were
satisfied with the results of the
confidential study and as such
proceeded with the transaction.
ALUMINIUM SALT SLAG
BUSINESS ACQUISITION
On 15 January 2010, MHM
and wholly-owned operating
subsidiary Alreco Pty Ltd settled
a multi-faceted transaction
that heralded the Company’s
diversification into the Aluminium
Salt Slag business. The following
events were completed as coconditional events during this one
transaction;
1. Alreco purchased a Salt Slag
processing business from Sims
Aluminium Pty Ltd (Sims), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Sims
Metal Management Limited

(ASX:SGM)
2. Alreco purchased the
underlying 2ha industrial site from
Sims
3. Alreco acquired the exclusive
global rights to the proprietary
Salt Slag processing technology,
the ALNAK technology
4. Alreco entered into a contract
that provides the rights to process
Salt Slag that is produced by
Alcoa Rolled Products Pty Ltd
(Alcoa), a subsidiary of Alcoa, Inc.
5. Alreco entered into a contract
to process Aluminium Salt
Slag, Aluminium Non-Salt Slag
and Aluminium Dross for Sims
Aluminium Pty Ltd
6. Alreco entered into a contract
that provides the rights to process
the Moolap Salt Slag landfill,
owned by Alcoa, that contains
160,000 tonnes of Salt Slag
7. Alreco entered into a contract
that provided the first right of
refusal to acquire the rights to
technology under development
for Spent Pot Lining processing
and NMP processing, both
additional industry waste streams
ACQUISITION OF THE SIMS
SALT SLAG BUSINESS &
UNDERLYING LAND AND
BUILDINGS
Alreco has acquired from Sims
a Salt Slag processing facility
in Moolap, Victoria that was
used to process material from
Sims own smelting operations,
together with that of Alcoa.
The Sims process, however, still
required a significant portion of
the material to be consigned to
landfill at considerable expense.
The Sims plant is being upgraded
to the specifications of the
ALNAK technology that will
greatly increase the efficacy and
profitability of the process.
Alreco paid to Sims $1,554,950
for the acquisition of the
business, plant and equipment,
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and a further $1,500,000 for the
purchase of the underlying land
and buildings.

international operations. No
royalty is payable for Australian
operations.

Alreco employed a vast majority
of the existing employees on
site, and the decision was made
by management to immediately
recommence operations upon
completion of the acquisition.
This decision involved operating
the existing Sims technology with
the concurrent implementation of
the ALNAK technology upgrade.
A vast majority of the Salt Slag
residues from the Sims process
that have been generated during
the plant upgrade have been
stockpiled. This material is to
be reprocessed once the ALNAK
upgrade is complete. Though
it has been necessary to landfill
a portion of partly processed
Salt Slag during the upgrade
period, the decision to continue
operations whilst concurrently
upgrading the technology has
enabled Alreco to generate an
operating profit during this interim
period.

CONTRACT TO PROCESS
ALCOA’S SALT SLAG AND
ALCOA’S MOOLAP SALT SLAG
LANDFILL

The ALNAK technology
upgrade, which has been
implemented on budget, is
expected to be completed by
the end of September 2010 with
commissioning occurring during
October 2010.
ACQUISITION OF THE RIGHTS
TO THE ALNAK TECHNOLOGY
Prior to the incorporation of
MHM, two of the Company’s
Directors (Frank Rogers and
Peter Robertson, the Technology
Providers) developed the
proprietary ALNAK technology
that provides a ‘closed-loop’
solution to the Salt Slag waste
issue.
Alreco has now acquired exclusive
global rights to this technology
from the Technology Providers,
subject to the payment of a 5%
gross revenue royalty for any
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The ALNAK technology and
associated business has been
under development since 1998,
independently of MHM by a Joint
Venture of three companies (the
Three Party JV), including two
companies associated with Frank
Rogers and Peter Robertson who
are both also Directors of MHM.
In early 2009, the Independent
Directors of MHM identified the
Salt Slag business as a potential fit
for the Company and appointed
Grant Thornton (Corporate
Advisers) and The Carnot Group
(Technical Advisers) to assist with
the due diligence and negotiation
for acquisition of the business.
The negotiation with Sims also
occurred concurrently, though this
aspect of the transaction was not
associated with the interests of
the Three Party JV.
The Three Party JV owned the
rights to the ALNAK technology
within Australia, and agreed
to sub-licence the exclusive
Australian rights to Alreco. The
exclusive global rights to the
technology were also acquired by
Alreco at this time.
The Three Party JV is contracted
with Alcoa to reprocess the Salt
Slag landfill owned by Alcoa
containing 160,000 tonnes of
aluminium waste, including the
rights to ownership of 100% of the
proceeds of materials recoverable
from the landfill.
In addition, the Three Party JV
has contracted a three-year tolling
agreement with Alcoa for the
processing of Aluminium Salt Slag.
The contract provides for between

33,000 and 39,000 tonnes of salt
slag to be processed over a three
year period. Alcoa is to pay $300
per tonne of material processed,
and retains ownership of the
recovered aluminium metal and
salt / potassium chloride blend.
The Three Party JV and Alreco
have executed a processing and
sales agency agreement under
which, in return for a fee, Alreco
will process the Aluminium Salt
Slag recovered from the Alcoa
landfill and sell the resulting
products as agent for the Three
Party JV. Alreco will also perform
the Three Party JV’s obligations
under a tolling contract with
Alcoa, as a sub-contractor. Alreco
will receive 60% of the EBIT profits
for performing these services for
the Three Party JV, and has the
first right of refusal to acquire
100% of the rights of the Three
Party JV, subject to independent
valuation and shareholder
approval.
The Independent Directors of
MHM are of the view that the
negotiated structure between
the Three Party JV and Alreco
provides for the lowest risk
transaction. The initial processing
and sales agency and subsequent
valuation by an Independent
Expert permits the Independent
Directors to be satisfied that
the business is operating as
anticipated prior affecting the
acquisition of 100% of the
Three Party JV rights, subject to
shareholder approval. It is the
view of the Independent Directors
that a more accurate valuation for
the Three Party JV rights can be
derived in this manner.
On 18 January 2010, Alreco
commenced processing Alcoa’s
Salt Slag from ongoing production
in accordance with the contract
between the Three Party JV and
Alcoa. The Alcoa Salt Slag landfill
will not commence reprocessing
until the ALNAK technology
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upgrade is complete, in order to
avoid partly-processed Salt Slag
storage issues.

ALRECO OPERATIONS FROM
COMMENCEMENT OF
OPERATIONS TO 30 JUNE 2010

CONTRACT TO PROCESS SIM’S
SALT SLAG, NON-SALT SLAG
AND ALUMINIUM DROSS

From the commencement of
operations to 30 June 2010,
Alreco processed 13,627 tonnes
of Salt Slag and Aluminium Dross
under the contracts with Alcoa
and Sims. Gross revenues for
the period were $2,735,528,
with a net profit of $1,008,021.
Profitability was affected by onceoff land filling costs of $545,829.

Alreco has entered into a
processing agreement with
Sims Aluminium Pty Ltd that
commenced on 15 January 2010.
The agreement provides for the
processing of material by Alreco
including Aluminium Salt Slag,
Aluminium Non-Salt Slag and
Aluminium Dross.
The processing is for an initial
period of 12 months, though
the parties anticipate that
the relationship will continue
beyond this term. At the request
of Sims, the specific details
of the processing agreement
are to remain Commercial-inConfidence.
This contract is 100%-owned
by Alreco and there is no profit
sharing arrangement with
the Three Party JV. Alreco
commenced processing under this
contract on 18 Jan 2010.
CONTRACT FOR THE FIRST
RIGHT OF REFUSAL TO
SPENT POT LINING AND
NON-METALLIC PRODUCT
TECHNOLOGIES

In this period $1,896,403 was
spent on the technology upgrade,
which was within budget.
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS –
EXPLORATION
During the reporting period,
exploration and mineral
development activity for MHM
focused in three areas:
» High purity silica exploration
and negotiation for off take
» Continued ground-based
exploration and helicopter
geophysical survey of the West
Coast Tasmanian gold and base
metal projects
» Pre-feasibility of the 520,000oz
Miyabi Gold Project located in
Tanzania

SILICA PROJECT OVERVIEW
On 30th September 2009, the
Mercury Newspaper printed a
series of articles concerning a
proposal for a silicon smelter to
be built in Tasmania, using high
purity silica sourced from MHM.
Whilst MHM could neither confirm
nor deny the details of the report,
the Company did confirm that
discussions for silica off take were
ongoing with a number of parties,
including the proponent of the
silicon smelter proposal, Wacker
Chemie AG.
The series of articles in the
Mercury drew MHM’s silica
project into the forefront of the
Shareholders minds and attracted
considerable attention from new
investors. Development of this
project had been underway for
considerable time, but the story
of the smelter proposal drew
considerable press and brought
new enquiries for off take from
additional parties.
High purity silica is smelted with
a reductant (charcoal, low ash
coal) to produce silicon metal, a
commodity that has experienced
significant growth of demand due
to its high-tech and renewable
energy applications. Silicon
metal is the primary ingredient

Sorell Silica Project

MHM has entered into a contract
with the Technology Providers
that secures the first right of
refusal for the exclusive rights
to two additional technologies
that are under development.
These technologies relate to the
treatment of Spent Pot Lining,
an additional toxic waste stream
from the aluminium industry, and
a value-adding technology for
Non-Metallic Product, an industry
by-product and residue of the
ALNAK technology.
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Managing Director Frank Rogers, Sorell Silica Project

Sorell Silica Project
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Sorell Silica Project workings

Sorell Silica Project outcrop
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for the production of computer
circuitry (semiconductors) and
the production of photovoltaic
cells (solar panels), among a vast
number of other uses.
Whilst silica is the second most
abundant mineral on earth,
specific parameters of purity,
thermal stability and mechanical
strength must be met in order
to be appropriate for the use of
silicon metal production.
SILICA EXPLORATION AREAS
MHM’s primary silica project
area is the Sorell Silica Project,
contained within exploration
area EL61/2007. This project is
100%-owned by MHM.
This exploration area was
previously owned by Comalco
(now Rio Tinto Aluminium), who
conducted a full feasibility on the
construction of a silicon smelter in
Tasmania. The full results of the
study have been made available
to MHM, which has provided
valuable information to support
the proposal for the development
of a Tasmanian silicon smelter.
There is also substantial
information concerning work that
Comalco carried out on the vast
area of silica mineralisation within
EL61/2007, however as the work
was completed pre-JORC Code
it cannot be reported as a formal
JORC Resource. Nevertheless,
the work that was completed
by Comalco is thorough and
of high quality, and has been
made available to parties with
inquiry for off take. MHM plans
to conduct additional drilling
of the Sorell Silica Project with
a view to determining a JORCcompliant Resource, however this
remains subject to the finalisation
of contract(s) for off take. Unlike
many other commodities, silica
is not readily tradeable and
the viability of the project is
very much dependent upon
confirmation of suitable off take

agreements. It is for this reason
that the Company intends to
secure off take agreements prior
to any drilling.
MHM also secured two additional
silica exploration areas during the
reporting period, with a view to
securing any potentially economic
silica deposits located within
Tasmania.
The Maydena Silica Project was
secured under option by MHM.
This project had been previously
mined to produce silica used as
feedstock for a silicon smelter
previously located in Electrona,
Tasmania. This smelter has now
closed. This project does not
contain a formal JORC resource,
as all work that has been
conducted is pre-JORC Code.
The option agreement provides
a mechanism for MHM to acquire
100% of the project area, subject
to the payment of a royalty to the
present owner.
At the date of this report analysis
of the viability of the Maydena
Silica Project area is ongoing.

Tasmanian Minister for Industry,
Hon. Michael Aird, that a second
multi-national chemical company
is engaged with the Tasmanian
silicon smelter proposal. MHM
has not provided comment on this
commercial-in-confidence matter.
Negotiation for silica export also
continues, with samples provided
to a number of parties for analysis.
The results of all analysis conducted
by third parties to date has
been positive, and off take price
discussions continue with a number
of parties.
TASMANIAN GOLD AND BASE
METAL EXPLORATION
MHM continues to conduct
exploration of Tasmanian gold and
base metal targets.
During the reporting period,
extensive ground based mapping
and sampling programs were
conducted throughout the suite
of Tasmanian projects, and a
helicopter-borne geophysical survey
(VTEM) was carried out over West
Coast Tasmanian targets.

The Marrawah Silica Project is a
greenfields exploration area in
North Eastern Tasmania that shows
potential for silica production.
This project area is 100%-owned
by MHM.

WEST COAST TASMANIA

At the date of this report, analysis
of the viability of the Marrawah
Silica Project area is ongoing.

During March 2010 a helicopterborne geophysical survey (VTEM)
was conducted over the West Coast
targets, identifying a large number
of targets for follow up in the
summer field season in late 2010.
The survey completed 1,404 line
kilometres of high resolution VTEM

OFF TAKE NEGOTIATIONS
MHM is conducting a number of
ongoing off take negotiations,
concerning both the development
of a Tasmanian silicon smelter and
the exportation of silica to feed
existing and proposed smelters
located overseas.

The Company’s projects located
on Tasmania’s West Coast contain
targets for gold, copper, nickel, iron
ore and silica.

All off take negotiations are
incomplete and ongoing, though
it has been reported by the
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divided over 6 blocks throughout
each of MHM’s West Coast
Tasmanian tenements.

is that there are significant
hydrothermal breccias present
in the core, with highly altered
clasts within a matrix of more
mafic composition. Highly
altered zones containing strongly
anomalous copper and gold
mineralization confirm that this
event was a mineralizing event.
This indicates that there was
strong hydrothermal activity in
this system derived from an as yet
undefined source, deeper down.

The results have also drawn
particular attention to the Thomas
Creek Copper-Gold Project and
Hill 99 Polymetallic Project areas.
THOMAS CREEK COPPER GOLD
PROJECT
Thomas Creek was first
recognised as a potential
porphyry style copper-gold
deposit in 1993 by Plutonic
Operations after soil sampling
and geochemical surveys returned
typical porphyry type signatures.
However, opinion on the nature
and style of the deposit has
remained ambiguous even after 8
diamond drill holes were carried
out in 1996. MHM’s recent VTEM
survey, reinterpretation of existing
data and new techniques for
analysing deposits of this nature
have suggested that
Thomas Creek is highly
prospective.
Inspection of the Plutonic
Operations drill core from
Thomas Creek has revealed
several observations not noted
by previous companies which
support that an alkali porphyry
copper-gold system is present.
The first observation is that most
of the copper minerals (mostly
chalcopyrite) are very fine-grained
and not visible to the naked
eye. Possibly for this reason,
much of the core has never been
sampled or assayed, despite the
intersections that were sampled
being strongly anomalous in
copper and sometimes gold.
Thin section analysis shows that
most of the copper-sulphides are
very fine and are associated with
magnetite and pyrite as separate
discreet, grains.
A second important observation
not noted by previous companies
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MHM will apply for approvals for
a drilling program in 2011 to test
the extent of the mineralisation.
HILL 99 ZINC-LEAD PROJECT

MHM exploration projects,
Western Tasmania.
is that the host rocks have
extensive hematite dusting of
feldspars which is typical of some
porphyry alteration envelopes,
especially at Newcrest’s CadiaRidgeway Mine in New South
Wales.
A third observation made
of the host rock at Thomas
Creek is the alteration of
high temperature actinolite
to chlorite, which in a typical
porphyry model is classified as
propylitic alteration. This type of
alteration usually rims a porphyry
system for several hundred
metres together with pyrite,
epidote and ferroan calcite. The
alteration of actinolite to chlorite
demonstrates retrogressive
metamorphism by hydrothermal
fluids typical of the outer shell of
a porphyry system.
The fourth and vital observation
was made from core from hole
TC-5 from Thomas Creek. This

The VTEM survey identified a
number of strong anomalies
approximately 2.5 km along strike
from Hill 99 which are planned for
field examination in November.
The anomalies lie between Hill
99 and the old Noddy Creek
prospect explored by BHP in the
early 1970’s. The existence of
these anomalies within such a
prospective zone is considered
highly encouraging.
Hill 99 is a base metal (zinc-lead)
target that was tested by a fan of
three diamond drill holes from a
single site in the late 1990’s by
a previous explorer. The target
was selected based on anomalous
stream sediment and soil samples
and also by a geophysics (IP)
anomaly. The IP target was not
intersected due to difficult ground
conditions. Recent re-examination
of the core has confirmed that
the anomalous Zn-Pb values
are associated with strongly
altered mafic volcanic rocks with
similarities to other economic
Zn-Pb deposits within the Mt
Read Volcanic belt (Que River
and Hellyer). Work is ongoing
to test for further comparisons
with known economic deposits to
establish whether further drilling is
warranted at Hill 99.
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NORTH EAST TASMANIA
The Company’s gold and
tin exploration targets in
North Eastern Tasmania were
relinquished during the reporting
period, as none of these project
areas were deemed to have
economic potential.
MIYABI GOLD PROJECT,
TANZANIA
On 14 May 2010, MHM
announced the signing of a
Letter of Intent with African Eagle
Resources PLC(AIM:AFE) (African
Eagle) concerning a Joint Venture
in respect of African Eagle’s
Miyabi Gold Project located in the
Lake Victoria Goldfields, Tanzania.
The Miyabi Gold Project is located
in the Lake Victoria Goldfields
of northern Tanzania. Miyabi
has a JORC compliant resource
containing 520,000 ozs of gold,
summarised in the table below.
Miyabi Mineral Resource Estimate
(0.5g/t cut off)
Classification Tonnage

Miyabi Gold Project - Regional Gold Resources

Grade

Ounces

(Mt)

g/t Au

Moz

Indicated

7.88

1.45

0.37

Inferred

4.49

1.01

0.15

Total

12.37

1.29

0.52

The resource occurs in four main
deposits over a distance of 3.5km
in discreet lenses within Archaean
age greenstones. The delineated
resource commences at surface
and continues to depths of at
least 100 metres.
African Eagle, through its whollyowned subsidiary Twigg Gold Ltd
(Twigg), discovered the deposits
in 1999 using geochemistry and
has since explored a part of the
hinge zone linking the SigaMabale greenstone belt and the
Nzega greenstone belt. Within

this hinge zone, Twigg
located a 14km2 gold
anomalous zone named
the Miyabi Structural
Corridor (MSC).

The mineralised lenses
fall within the MSC,
which trends North
East. There is upside potential for
discovering new extensions along
strike and at depth to all of the
four mineralised deposits as well
as potential for developing other
early stage prospects nearby.
In 2006, SRK Consulting (UK)
Ltd produced an independent
resource statement, as quoted.
MHM believes that by reanalysing
the geological and grade data
and by varying the grade cut
offs it may be possible to define
higher-grade zones to optimise
the economics.

Preliminary metallurgical tests
by African Eagle have indicated
that the gold is free-milling and
has a median recovery of 95%
using a range of oxide, transition
and fresh material with nominal
consumption of reagents. Some
oxidised material is present
that may be amenable to heap
leaching.
Prospecting Licences covering
the Miyabi prospects are held by
Tanzanian nationals with whom
Twigg has underlying agreements.
TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT
WITH AFRICAN EAGLE
RESOURCES PLC
MHM and African Eagle (the
Parties) have entered a binding
Letter of Intent (LOI) that specifies
the terms for a Joint Venture
between the companies, whereby
MHM will acquire 75% of African
Eagle’s interest in the Miyabi
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Through his established networks
and experience, MHM has been
able to bring together a leading
exploration and development
team.
MHM is conducting a conceptual
mining study and metallurgical
test work, both of which are
ongoing at the date of this report.
JORC COMPLIANCE
STATEMENT

Miyabi Gold Project - Regional Gold Mines
Gold Project following MHM
making a “Decision to Mine”.
MHM will not make any up-front
payment to African Eagle, nor is
there any minimum expenditure
requirement that MHM must
meet. Under the LOI, MHM will
progress the project, incurring
all costs, until a Decision to Mine
is made at which point the Joint
Venture agreement commences
and MHM acquires 75% of African
Eagle’s interest in the project.
In addition to African Eagle’s
ownership, a minor interest
has been retained by local
landowners.
At the inception of the Joint
Venture, African Eagle will be
deemed to have contributed its
current exploration expenditure
of USD6.5 million to the Joint
Venture, and this sum shall
operate as a credit against any
cash calls made by the Joint
Venture against African Eagle after
the Decision to Mine and until
that credit has been extinguished.
African Eagle has granted MHM
an exclusive period of three
months, extendable by a further
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three months at MHM’s sole
discretion, to review and conduct
due diligence on the Miyabi
title, data and other relevant
information. MHM intends to
commission a concept mining
and economic study using SRK
Consulting (UK) Ltd, to assist in
defining a path forward for further
exploration and pre-feasibility
studies.
Following a Decision to Mine, the
Parties will invest a minimum of
12% of pre-tax net revenue
into exploration of the
Miyabi Gold Project Area,
contributed pro rata to their
respective interests.

Information in this report that
relates to Exploration results,
Mineral Resources or Ore
Reserves is based on information
compiled by Richard Lindsay
(Exploration Manager for MHM)
who is a member of the Australian
Institute of Geoscientists. Richard
Lindsay has sufficient experience
which is relevant to the style
of mineralization and type of
deposits under consideration
and to the activity which he
is undertaking to qualify as a
Competent Person as defined
in the 2004 edition of the
Australasian Code for Reporting
of Exploration Results, Mineral
Resources and Ore Reserves”.
Richard Lindsay consents to the
inclusion in this report of the
matters based on his information
in the form and context in which it
appears.

DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAM
MHM has engaged a
Tanzanian-based team
consisting of a Project
Manager, Geologist and
field staff. MHM’s Australianbased Exploration Manager,
Richard Lindsay, has
extensive experience in the
Tanzanian mining industry.

Miyabi Gold Project - Geology
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Your Directors present their report
on the consolidated entity (Group)
consisting of Macquarie Harbour
Mining Limited (Company) and
the entities it controlled at the
end of, or during, the year ended
30 June 2010.
DIRECTORS
The following persons were
Directors of Macquarie Harbour
Mining Limited during the whole
of the financial year and up to the
date of this report:
B A Conti
F A Rogers
B W Mead
N R Allen
P L A Robertson

Except for the events discussed
above, no other matter or
circumstance has arisen since 30
June 2010 that has significantly
affected, or may significantly
affect:
(a) the Group’s operations in
future financial years;
(b) the results of those operations
in future financial years; or
(c) the Group’s state of affairs in
future financial years.
LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS
AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
During the period the principal
activities of the Group consisted
of exploration of mineral
resources and aluminium salt slag
processing.
DIVIDENDS
No dividends were paid to
members during the financial
year and the Directors do not
recommend the payment of a
dividend.

Other than likely developments
contained in the “review of
operations and activities”,
further information on likely
developments in the operations
of the Group and the expected
results of operations have not
been included in this report
because the Directors believe
it would be likely to result in
unreasonable prejudice to the
Group.
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The detailed review of
operations of the Group for the
year is contained in “Review
of Operations” of this Annual
Report.
EARNINGS PER SHARE
2010
$
Basic earnings per
shares

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO
THE END OF THE FINANCIAL
PERIOD

(0.0272)

The Group is subject to the
environmental laws and
regulations imposed under the
Mineral Resources Development
Act 1995, depending on the
activities being undertaken.
The Group is currently engaged
in exploration activities which
are governed by conditions
or recommendations imposed
through the granting of a licence
or permit to explore. Compliance
with these laws and regulations is
regarded as a minimum standard
for the Group to achieve. There
were no known breaches of any
environmental laws or regulations
during the year.

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS
B A Conti FCA, FCIS, FTIA.
Chairman – non-executive.
Experience and expertise
Mr Conti is a fellow of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in
Australia, the Taxation Institute
of Australia and the Chartered
Secretaries Australia. He
commenced his professional
career with Arthur Young & Co
and has been a partner/director
in the firm of Harden East & Conti
Pty Ltd since 1978. Mr Conti
has experience in management
accounting, taxation, secretarial
practice, corporate and financial
planning, consulting to small
and large businesses and has
been associated with the mining
industry in a professional capacity
for the past 25 years.
Other current Directorships
None.
Former Directorships in last 3
years
None.
Special responsibilities
Chairman of the Board.
Interests in shares and options
456,250 ordinary shares in
Macquarie Harbour Mining
Limited (indirect).
682,500 options over ordinary
shares in Macquarie Harbour
Mining Limited (indirect).
F A Rogers. Managing Director.
Experience and expertise
Mr Rogers has been involved
in the management of mining
companies, mineral and chemical
process operations, materials
handling projects and waste
processing industries for 38 years.
For most of that time Mr Rogers
has operated as CEO of both
public and private companies and
as a consequence has developed
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skills in management, financial
control and project development
and implementation. Mr Rogers
has the experience to offer a
mature and innovative approach
to problem solving both
technically and administratively.
Mr Rogers has been involved in
the exploration, development
and/or operation of the following
projects:
» Youanmi Mine;
» Speewah Fluorite Deposit;
» Cadjebut Lead-Zinc Mine;
» Gidgee Gold Mine; and
» Delineation of Mineral Sands in
the Eucla Basin.
Mr Rogers also has extensive
experience in mechanical
and process design and
implementation over a broad
range of industries. The provision
of new and innovative solutions
to processing and operational
problems led to the design,
construction and operation of:
» the first continuous carbon-inpulp gold plant in Australia;
» the first methanol gold
desorption plant; and
» new processes for the
aluminium industry.

B W Mead B.Econ. Executive
Director & Company Secretary
Experience and expertise
Mr Mead has had several years of
international banking experience,
having worked at Coutts & Co
(London) in their commercial
banking and money market
divisions. Mr Mead has diverse
financial and business consulting
experience, and is involved
in the aluminium industry and
geothermal energy industries
at an executive level. Mr Mead
is responsible for commercial
management and business
development for the Group.
Other current Directorships
None.
Former Directorships in last 3
years
None.
Special responsibilities
Executive Director.
Interests in shares
1,900,000 ordinary shares in
Macquarie Harbour Mining
Limited (indirect).
40,001 ordinary shares in
Macquarie Harbour Mining
Limited (direct).

Other current Directorships
None.

3,000,000 options over ordinary
shares in Macquarie Harbour
Mining Limited (indirect).

Former Directorships in last 3
years
None.

20,001 options over ordinary
shares in Macquarie Harbour
Mining Limited (direct).

Special responsibilities
Managing Director.
Interests in shares
10,631,256 ordinary shares in
Macquarie Harbour Mining
Limited (indirect).
8,512,503 options over ordinary
shares in Macquarie Harbour
Mining Limited (indirect).
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Dr N R Allen B.Sc, PhD. Nonexecutive Director.
Experience and expertise
Dr Allen is a mineral physicist and
provides geophysical analysis
and mineral dressing expertise to
the group. Dr Allen has over 20
years experience in exploration in
Tasmania, including the tenement

areas in which MHM holds an
interest. Further, Dr Allen provides
a consulting service to the mining
industry specialising in mineral
magnetism and the recovery of
minerals using new technologies.
Other current Directorships
None.
Former Directorships in last 3
years
None.
Interests in shares
225,001 ordinary shares in
Macquarie Harbour Mining
Limited (direct).
450,000 options over ordinary
shares in Macquarie Harbour
Mining Limited (direct).
P L A Robertson B.E. (Met),
MBA. Non-executive Director.
Experience and expertise
Mr Robertson is a metallurgist
with over 20 years experience
in mineral processing, smelting
and rolling of aluminium and
the development of new
technologies. He commenced
his career with Warman
Equipment and was involved in
the processing of Uranium ores.
Mr Robertson was the Remelt
Plant Metallurgist for Comalco
at their Sydney plant and for the
past 20 years has been involved
in the supply of consumables
and consulting services to the
aluminium industry through
Leymont Pty Ltd. More recently
Mr Robertson has been employed
as a Director of Alichem Limited,
a company involved in the
processing of waste from that
industry.
Other current Directorships
None.
Former Directorships in last 3
years
None.
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Interests in shares
250,002 ordinary shares in
Macquarie Harbour Mining
Limited (direct).
62,500 ordinary shares in
Macquarie Harbour Mining
Limited (indirect).
300,001 options over ordinary
shares in Macquarie Harbour
Mining Limited (direct).
125,000 options over ordinary
shares in Macquarie Harbour
Mining Limited (indirect).
COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company secretary is Mr B W
Mead. Mr Mead was appointed to
the position of company secretary
in 2009.
MEETING OF DIRECTORS
The numbers of meetings of
the group’s board of Directors
held during the period ended
30 June 2010, and the numbers
of meetings attended by each
Director were:
Full meetings of Directors
Held

Attended

F A Rogers

10

10

B A Conti

10

10

B W Mead

10

10

N R Allen

10

10

PLA
Robertson

10

10

P Lucas
(resigned
11/09/09)

2

1
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The remuneration report is set
out under the following main
headings:

competitive and complimentary
to the reward strategy of the
organisation.

a. Principles used to determine
the nature and amount of
remuneration

Alignment to shareholders’
interests:

b. Details of remuneration

» focuses on exploration success
as the creation of shareholder
value and returns;
» focuses on sustained growth
in shareholder wealth, consisting
of dividends and growth in share
price, and delivery constant return
on assets as well as focusing the
executive on key non-financial
drivers of value; and
» attracts and retains high calibre
executives.

c. Service agreements
d. Share-based compensation
e. Additional information
The information provided in this
remuneration report has been
audited as required by section
308(3C) of the Corporations Act
2001.
PRINCIPLES USED TO
DETERMINE THE NATURE AND
AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION
The objective of the Group’s
executive reward framework is to
ensure reward for performance
is competitive and appropriate
for the results delivered. The
framework aligns executive
reward with achievement of
strategic objectives, the creation
of value for shareholders and
conforms with market practice
for delivery of reward. The Board
ensures that executive reward
satisfies the following key criteria
for good reward governance
practices:
» competitiveness and
reasonableness;
» acceptability to shareholders;
» performance linkage /
alignment of executive
compensation;
» transparency; and
» capital management.

Alignment to program
participants’ interests:
» rewards capability and
experience;
» reflects competitive reward
for contribution to growth in
shareholder wealth;
» provides a clear structure for
earning rewards; and
» provides recognition for
contribution.
The framework provides a mix of
fixed and variable salaries.
The overall level of executive
rewards is not dependent on
the performance of the Group
or satisfaction of a performance
condition. The Group is involved
in mineral exploration and
did not derive a profit and
therefore growth in earnings is
not considered relevant. During
the same period, average
executive remuneration has been

The Group has structured
an executive remuneration
framework that is market
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30 June 2010

30 June 2009

2,855,239

254,101

Net (loss) before tax

(2,022,245)

(422,030)

Net (loss) after tax

(2,022,245)

(422,030)

(0.027)

(0.008)

Share price at start of the year

0.070

0.073

Share price at the end of the year

0.180

0.070

-

-

Revenue from continuing operations

Basic earning per share

Dividends
maintained in accordance with
industry standards.
As at 30 June 2010 the Group
had not formalised its short term
of long term incentive policy
for key management personnel
and link to performance. The
table below sets out summary
information about the Group’s
consolidated earnings and share
price movements for the year to
30 June 2010.
Non-executive Directors
Fees and payments to nonexecutive Directors reflect the
demands which are made on
and the responsibilities of,
the Directors. Non-executive
Directors’ fees and payments
are reviewed annually by the
Board. The Chairman’s fees are
determined independently to the
fees of non-executive Directors
based on comparative roles in the
external market. The Chairman
is not present at any discussions
relating to determination of his
own remuneration.
Directors’ fees
The current base remuneration
was last reviewed with effect from
1 December 2007. Director’s
remuneration is inclusive of
committee fees.
Retirement allowances for
Directors
There is no provision for
retirement allowances for
non-executive Directors.
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Superannuation contributions
required under the Australian
superannuation guarantee
legislation continue to be
made and are deducted from
the Directors’ overall fee
entitlements.
Executive pay
The executive pay and reward
framework has three components:
» base pay and benefits;
» long-term incentives through
participation in the Employee
Option Plan; and
» other remuneration such as
superannuation.
The combination of these
comprises the executive’s total
remuneration.
Base pay
Structured as a total employment
cost package which may be
delivered as a combination of
cash and prescribed non-financial
benefits at the executives’
discretion.
Executives are offered a
competitive base pay that
comprises the fixed component
of pay and rewards. Base pay for
executives is reviewed annually
to ensure the executive’s pay is
competitive with the market. An
executive’s pay is also reviewed
on promotion.

There is no guaranteed base
pay increases included in any
executives’ contracts.
Benefits
Executives receive benefits
including memberships, car
allowances and reasonable
entertainment.
Retirement benefits
Directors and employees
are permitted to nominate a
superannuation fund of their
choice to receive superannuation
contributions.
Employee share option scheme
Information on the employee
share option scheme is set out in
Note 34.
DETAILS OF REMUNERATION
The key management personnel
of the Group are the Directors
of Macquarie Harbour Mining
Limited (see pages 15 to 17).
In addition, the following persons
must be disclosed under the
Corporations Act 2001 as they are
among the 5 highest remunerated
Group executives:
» B A Conti – Company Chairman:
Group non-executive
» F A Rogers – Managing
Director: Group executive
» B W Mead – Director and
Company Secretary: Group
executive
» N R Allen – Director: Group
non-executive
» P L A Robertson – Director:
Group non-executive
Details of the remuneration of the
Directors, the key management
personnel of the Group (as
defined in AASB 124 Related
Party Disclosures) and specified
executives of Macquarie Harbour
Mining Limited are set out in the
following tables:
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2010

Name

Short-term
employee
benefits

Post-employment
benefit

Share
based
payments

Cash salary
and fees

Superannuation

Options

Total

$

$

$

$

Value of
Options

Performance
Related

As a % of
remuneration

As a % of
remuneration

Non-executive Directors
B A Conti (Chairman)

-

26,160

28,648

54,808

52%

0%

N R Allen

12,000

1,080

27,359

40,439

68%

0%

P L A Robertson

12,000

1,080

27,359

40,439

68%

0%

7,000

-

2,148

9,148

31%

0%

31,000

28,320

85,514

144,834

B W Mead

198,697

10,028

86,132

294,857

29%

0%

F A Rogers

292,293

22,500

86,132

400,925

21%

0%

Total key management
personnel compensation
(Group)

521,990

60,848

257,778

840,616

Short-term
employee
benefits

Post-employment
benefit

Share
based
payments

Value of
Options

Performance
Related

Cash salary
and fees

Superannuation

Options

Total

As a % of
remuneration

As a % of
remuneration

$

$

$

$

-

25,179

2,604

27,783

9%

0%

N R Allen

12,000

1,080

1,042

14,122

7%

0%

P L A Robertson

12,000

1,080

1,042

14,122

7%

0%

7%

0%

P Lucas (resigned - 11/09/09)
Sub-total non-executive
Directors
Executive Directors

2009

Name
Non-executive Directors
B A Conti (Chairman)

P Lucas (resigned – 11/09/09)

35,136

-

2,604

37,740

Sub-total non-executive
Directors

59,136

27,339

7,292

93,767

Executive Directors
B W Mead

115,580

1,080

7,691

124,351

6%

0%

F A Rogers

216,667

19,500

7,691

243,858

3%

0%

Total key management
personnel compensation
(Group)

391,383

47,919

22,674

461,976
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SERVICE AGREEMENTS

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Remuneration and other terms
of employment for the Managing
Director and Executive Director
are formalised in service
agreements. The agreement for
the Managing Director provide
for the provision of other benefits,
when eligible, in the Employee
Share Option scheme. The
agreement for the Executive
Director provides for the
provision of consulting fees and
participation, when eligible, in the
Employee Share Option scheme.

Options are granted under the Employee Share Option scheme. All staff
are eligible to participate in the scheme (including executive Directors) at
the absolute discretion of the Board.

Other major provisions of
the agreements relating to
remuneration are set out below.
F A Rogers, Managing Director
» Term of agreement: reviewed
annually, until terminated in
accordance with the agreement,
notice period of three months;
» Base salary, inclusive of
superannuation and other
benefits, for the year ended 30
June 2010 of $327,000. Provision
of four weeks annual leave; and
» Upon termination a payment
equal to the amount calculated
using the formula in section 200G
of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)
is payable by the company.
B W Mead, Executive Director
» Term of agreement: reviewed
annually, until terminated in
accordance with the agreement,
notice period of three months;
» Base salary, inclusive of
superannuation and other
benefits, for the year ended 30
June 2010 of $218,000. Provision
of four weeks annual leave; and
» Upon termination a payment
equal to the amount calculated
using the formula in section 200G
of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)
is payable by the company.
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Options are granted under the scheme for no consideration. Entitlements
to the options are vested as soon as they become exercisable.
Per service contracts, employees are granted options upon completion of
12 months employment.
Options are issued to Directors on an annual basis in relation to services
provided to Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited.
The terms and conditions of each grant of options affecting remuneration
in this or future reporting periods are as follows:
Grant date

Expiry
date

Exercise
price

Value per Date
option at Vested
grant date

Date
exercisable

7
December
2007

31 August
2012

$0.20

$0.097 7
December
2007

At any time
during the
option period

12
December
2008

28
November
2013

$0.20

$0.030 12
December
2008

At any time
during the
option period

18
December
2008

14
December
2013

$0.20

$0.030 18
December
2008

At any time
during the
option period

9 October
2009

9 October
2014

$0.25

$0.250 9 October
2009

At any time
during the
option period

17
December
2009

30
November
2014

$0.28

$0.240 17
December
2009

At any time
during the
option period

5 January
2010

5 January
2015

$0.28

$0.280 5 January
2010

At any time
during the
option period

When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share.
The exercise price of options is the exercise price determined by the
Board on or before the issue date provided that in no event shall the
exercise price be less than the weighted average sale price of shares sold
on ASX during the five business days prior to the issue date or such other
period as determined by the Board.
The fair value at grant date is independently determined using a BlackScholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price,
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the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant
date and expected price volatility of the underlying share and the risk free
interest rate for the term of the option.
The model inputs for options granted during the year ended 30 June
2010 included:
Employee options
Grant date

9 October 2009

Expiry date

9 October 2014

Quantity

450,000

Exercise price

$0.25

Consideration

Nil

Share price at grant date

$0.25

Expected price volatility of the
company’s shares

120%

Risk-free interest rate

5.3%

Director options
Grant date

17 December 2009

Expiry date

30 November 2014

Quantity

2,250,000

Exercise price

$0.28

Consideration

Nil

Share price at grant date

$0.24

Expected price volatility of the
company’s shares

120%

Risk-free interest rate

5.3%

Employee options
Grant date

05 January 2010

Expiry date

05 January 2015

Quantity

100,000

Exercise price

$0.28

Consideration

Nil

Share price at grant date

$0.28

Expected price volatility of the
company’s shares

120%

Risk-free interest rate

5.3%
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DETAILS OF REMUNERATION: CASH BONUSES AND OPTIONS
For each cash bonus and grant of options included in the tables on page 20, the percentage of the available
bonus or grant that was paid, or that vested, in the financial year, and the percentage that forfeited because the
person did not meet the service and performance criteria is set out below.
No part of the bonuses is payable in future years. No options will vest if the conditions are not satisfied. The
maximum value of the options yet to vest has been determined as the amount of the grant date fair value of the
options that is yet to be expensed.
2010

Cash bonus

Options

Name

Paid
%

Forfeited
%

Year
granted

Vested
%

Forfeited
%

Financial years
in which
options may
vest

Minimum total
value of grant
yet to vest
$

Maximum total
value of grant
yet to vest
$

F A Rogers

-

-

2010

53%

-

30 June 2011

69,307

69,307

2009

100%

-

-

-

-

2008

100%

-

-

-

-

2010

53%

-

30 June 2011

69,307

69,307

2009

100%

-

-

-

-

2008

100%

-

-

-

-

2010

53%

-

30 June 2011

23,102

23,102

2009

100%

-

-

2010

53%

-

30 June 2011

2009

100%

-

-

2010

53%

-

30 June 2011

2009

100%

-

2009

100%

-

B W Mead

-

-

B A Conti

-

-

N R Allen

-

-

PLA
Robertson
P Lucas

-

-

-

-

-

-

23,102

23,102

-

-

23,102

23,102

-

-

-

-

-

-

(resigned
11/09/09)
2010

A
Remuneration
consisting of options

B
Value at grant
date
$

C
Value at exercise
date
$

D
Value at lapse date
$

F A Rogers

21.48%

86,132

-

-

B W Mead

29.21%

86,132

-

-

B A Conti

52.27%

28,648

-

-

N R Allen

67.65%

27,359

-

-

P L A Robertson

67.65%

27,359

-

-

P Lucas (resigned 11/09/09)

30.69%

2,148

-

-

Name

ANNUAL REPORT 30 JUNE 2010
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A = the percentage of the value of the remuneration consisting of options, based on the value at grant date set
out in column B.
B = the value at grant date calculated in accordance with AASB 2 Share-based Payments of options granted
during the year as part of remuneration.
C = the value at exercise date of options that were granted as part of remuneration and were exercised during
the year.
D = the value at lapse date of options that were granted as part of remuneration and that lapsed during the year.
There were no ordinary shares issued as a result of the exercise of options.
Number of options granted
during the year

Number of options vested during
the year

2010

2009

2010

2009

F A Rogers

750,000

750,000

750,000

750,000

B W Mead

750,000

750,000

750,000

750,000

B A Conti

250,000

250,000

250,000

250,000

N R Allen

250,000

100,000

250,000

100,000

P L A Robertson

250,000

100,000

250,000

100,000

-

250,000

-

250,000

P Lucas (resigned – 11/09/09)

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited is involved in mineral exploration and aluminium salt slag processing,
remuneration of the persons referred to above is not dependent on the satisfaction of a performance condition.
This is the end of the audited remuneration report.
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PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF
THE GROUP

LOANS TO DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES

No person has applied to the
Court under section 237 of the
Corporations Act 2001 for leave
to bring proceedings on behalf of
the group, or to intervene in any
proceedings to which the group
is a party, for the purpose of
taking responsibility on behalf of
the group for all or part of those
proceedings.

Information on loans to Directors and executives, including amounts,
interest rates and repayment terms are set out in note 23 to the financial
statements.
SHARES UNDER OPTION
Unissued ordinary shares of Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited under
option at the date of this report are as follows:
Date options granted

Expiry date

Issue
price of
shares

Number
under
option

7 December 2007

31 August 2012

$0.20

2,380,750

18 April 2008

31 August 2012

$0.20

20,687,501

9 May 2008

31 August 2012

$0.20

6,767,884

12 December 2008

28 November 2013

$0.20

1,200,000

18 December 2008

14 December 2014

$0.20

1,000,000

09 October 2009

9 October 2014

$0.25

450,000

17 December 2009

30 November 2014

$0.28

2,250,000

5 January 2010

05 January 2015

$0.28

100,000
34,836,135

No option holder has any right under the options to participate in any
other share issue of the company or any other entity.
A total of 42,500 ordinary shares were issued on the exercise of listed
options.
INSURANCE OF OFFICERS
During the financial year, the Group paid a premium of $8,866 to insure
the Directors and secretary of the company and its Australian-based
controlled entities, and the general managers of the Group.
The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending
civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought against the officers in
their capacity as officers of entities in the Group, and any other payments
arising from liabilities incurred by the officers in connection with such
proceedings. This does not include such liabilities that arise from conduct
involving a wilful breach of duty by the officers or the improper use by
the officers of their position or of information to gain advantage for
themselves or someone else or to cause detriment to the group. It is
not possible to apportion the premium between amounts relating to the
insurance against legal costs and those relating to other liabilities.

ANNUAL REPORT 30 JUNE 2010
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No proceedings have been
brought or intervened in on behalf
of the group with leave of the
Court under section 237 of the
Corporations Act 2001.
NON-AUDIT SERVICES
The group may decide to employ
the auditor on assignments
additional to their statutory
audit duties where the auditor’s
expertise and experience with the
Group is important.
Details of the amounts paid or
payable to the auditor (BDO Audit
(WA) Pty Ltd) for audit and nonaudit services provided during the
year are set out below.
The Board has considered the
position and is satisfied that
the provision of the non-audit
services is compatible with the
general standard of independence
for auditors imposed by the
Corporations Act 2001.
The Directors are satisfied that
the provision of non-audit services
by the auditor, as set out below,
did not compromise the auditor
independence requirements of
the Corporations Act 2001 for the
following reasons:
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» all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Directors to ensure
they do not impact the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor; and
» none of the services undermine the general principles relating
to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants.
During the period the following fees were paid or payable for services
provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related practices and nonrelated audit firms:
Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd Audit and review
of financial reports

32,380

27,670

Total remuneration for audit services

32,380

27,670

BDO Corporate & International Tax (WA)
Pty Ltd Taxation Advice

1,929

9,530

Total remuneration for non-audit
services

1,929

9,530

Audit services

Non-audit services
Audit-related services

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under
section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 27.
AUDITOR
BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd continues in office in accordance with section
327 of the Corporations Act 2001.
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

B A Conti
Director
Perth, Western Australia
30 September 2010
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The Group has adopted systems
of control and accountability as
the basis for the administration of
corporate governance. The Board
is committed to administering
the policies and procedures with
openness and integrity, pursuing
the true spirit of corporate
governance commensurate with
the Group’s needs. To the extent
they are applicable, the Group has
adopted the Essential Corporate
Governance Principles and Best
Practice Recommendations as
published by ASX Corporate
Governance Council.
As the Group’s activities develop
in size, nature and scope,
the size of the Board and the
implementation of additional
corporate governance structures
will be given further consideration.

The Board must at all times act
honestly, fairly and diligently in all
respects in accordance with the
law applicable to the Group.
The Board will at all times act
in accordance with all relevant
Group policies.
Each of the Directors, when
representing the Group, must
act in the best interests of
shareholders of the Group and in
the best interests of the Group as
a whole.
THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE
BOARD
The Board’s responsibilities
include:

THE OBJECTIVES OF THE
BOARD

1. supervising the Group’s
framework of control and
accountability systems to enable
risk to be assessed and managed;

The Board’s key objectives are to:

2. ensuring the Group is properly
managed;

» increase shareholder value
within an appropriate framework
which safeguards the rights
and interests of the Group’s
shareholders; and
» ensure the Group is properly
managed.
The Board has primary
responsibility to shareholders
for the welfare of the Group
by guiding and monitoring the
business and the affairs of the
Group and determining the vision
and objectives of the Group.
The Group recognises the
importance of the Board in
providing a sound base for good
corporate governance in the
operations of the Group.

ANNUAL REPORT 30 JUNE 2010
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3. approving and monitoring
the progress of major capital
expenditure, capital management,
and acquisitions and divestitures;
4. approving the annual budget;
5. monitoring the financial
performance of the Group;
6. approving and monitoring
financial and other reporting;
7. providing overall corporate
governance of the Group,
including conducting regular
reviews of the balance of
responsibilities within the Group
to ensure division of functions
remain appropriate to the needs
of the Group;
8. appointing the external
auditor and the appointment of
a new external auditor when any

vacancy arises, provided that any
appointment made by the Board
must be ratified by shareholders
at the next AGM of the Group;
9. liaising with the Group’s
external auditors; and
10. monitoring and ensuring
compliance with all of the Group’s
legal obligations, in particular
those obligations relating to the
environment, native title, cultural
heritage and occupational health
and safety.
ADOPTED CHARTERS, POLICIES
AND CODES
The Group has adopted:
» Audit Committee Charter;
» Policy and Procedure for
Selection and Appointment of
New Directors;
» Remuneration Committee
Charter;
» Code of Conduct;
» Policy for Dealing in Company
Securities;
» Disclosure Policy and
Communications Strategy; and
» Risk Management Policy.
There is no separate Audit
Committee or Remuneration
Committee. Due to the small
size and structure of the
Board, separate committees
are not considered to add any
efficiency. When considering
financial matters and matters
of remuneration, the Board
functions in accordance with its
Audit Committee Charter and
Remuneration Committee Charter
respectively.
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30th September 2010

Board of Directors
Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited
Level 1, 20 Kings Park Road
WEST PERTH, WA 6005

Tel: +8 6382 4600
Fax: +8 6382 4601
www.bdo.com.au

38 Station Street
Subiaco, WA 6008
PO Box 700 West Perth WA 6872
Australia

Dear Sirs,
DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY PETER TOLL TO THE DIRECTORS OF MACQUARIE HARBOUR
MINING
LIMITED2010
30th September
As lead auditor of Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010, I declare
that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:
Board of Directors
•
the auditor
independence
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit
Macquarie
Harbour
Mining Limited
Level 1, 20 Kings Park Road
• any
applicable
code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.
WEST
PERTH,
WA 6005
This declaration is in respect of Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited and the entities it controlled
during the period.
Dear Sirs,
DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY PETER TOLL TO THE DIRECTORS OF MACQUARIE HARBOUR
MINING LIMITED
As
leadToll
auditor of Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010, I declare
Peter
that,
to
Director the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:
•

the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit

•
applicable
BDO any
Audit
(WA) Ptycode
Ltd of professional conduct in relation to the audit.
Perth, Western Australia
This declaration is in respect of Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited and the entities it controlled
during the period.

Peter Toll
Director

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd
Perth, Western Australia

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd ABN 79 112 284 787 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO (Australia) Ltd ABN 77 050
110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd and BDO (Australia) Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK company limited
by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards
Legislation (other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees) in each State or Territory other than Tasmania.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited is a company limited by shares
incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and principal
place of business are:
Registered Office
Level One, 20 Kings Park Road
West Perth WA 6005

Principal Place of Business
52 Channel Highway
Kingston TAS 7050

A description of the nature of the Group’s operations and its principal
activities is included in the review of operations and activities in the
Directors’ report, both of which are not part of this financial report.
The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors on 30
September 2010. The group has the power to amend and reissue the
financial report.
Through the use of the internet, we have ensured that our corporate
reporting is timely, complete, and available globally at minimum cost to
the group. All press releases, financial reports and other information are
available at our Shareholders’ Centre on our website: www.mhml.com.au.
For queries in relation to our reporting please call +61 3 6229 9955 or
email info@mhml.com.au
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For the year ended 30 June 2010
Consolidated
Notes

2010
$

2009
$

Revenue from continuing operations

5

2,855,239

254,101

Other income

6

-

1,053

(43,191)

(38,555)

Administrative expenses
Consultancy fees
Cost of Sales

(90,343)

(103,580)

(839,246)

-

Depreciation expenses

7

(150,202)

(39,709)

Employee benefit expenses

7

(762,316)

(199,174)

(78,771)

(9,108)

(727,069)

-

(56,818)

(20,616)

Employee entitlements expenses
Exploration expenses
Insurance expenses
Office accommodation expenses

(77,915)

(31,164)

Option expenses

(335,571)

56,178

Pre-operational expenses

(977,051)

-

Professional fees

(106,663)

(96,971)

Shareholder expenses

(106,568)

(57,321)

(525,760)

(137,164)

(2,022,245)

(422,030)

(2,022,245)

(422,030)

-

-

Loss after income tax expense

(2,022,245)

(422,030)

Loss and comprehensive income attributable to
members of Macquarie Harbour Mining Ltd

(2,022,245)

(422,030)

Cents

Cents

(0.0272)

(0.0077)

Other expenses

7

Results from operating activities
Loss before income tax expense
Income tax expense

8

Earnings per share for loss attributable to the ordinary
equity holders of the company:
Basic earnings per share

33

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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As at 30 June 2010
Consolidated
Notes

2010
$

2009
$

2,524,633

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

9

2,286,132

Trade and other receivables

10

1,105,223

22,669

3,391,355

2,547,302

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Other financial assets

11

32,968

570

Exploration and evaluation

12

1,460,057

1,354,497

Property, plant and equipment

13

5,885,066

799,657

Deferred assets

14

-

166,672

Intangible assets

15

-

5,326

7,378,091

2,326,722

10,769,446

4,874,024

Total non-current assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

16

1,531,372

111,899

Borrowings

17

38,255

29,462

1,569,627

141,361

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

18

8,846

8,846

Borrowings

19

69,336

92,317

Other payables

20

3,211

-

81,393

101,163

Total liabilities

1,651,020

242,524

Net assets

9,118,426

4,631,500

11,664,083

5,490,483

Total non-current liabilities

Equity
Contributed Equity

21

Share based payments reserve

22

589,986

254,415

Accumulated losses

22

(3,135,643)

(1,113,398)

9,118,426

4,631,500

Total equity

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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For the year ended 30 June 2010
Issued Capital

Accumulated
Losses

Share Based
Payment Reserve

Total

$

$

$

$

5,490,483

(691,368)

230,933

5,030,048

Profit/(Loss) for the year

-

(422,030)

-

(422,030)

Total comprehensive income for the
year

-

(422,030)

-

(422,030)

Share based payment

-

-

41,952
(18,470)

41,952
(18,470)

5,490,483

(1,113,398)

254,415

4,631,500

5,490,483

(1,113,398)

254,415

4,631,500

Profit/(Loss) for the year

-

(2,022,245)

-

(2,022,245)

Total comprehensive income for the
year

-

(2,022,245)

-

(2,022,245)

Share Based Payments

-

-

335,571

335,571

2009
Balance 1 July 2008

Share issue costs
Balance 30 June 2009

2010
Balance 1 July 2009

Shares issued
Balance 30 June 2010

6,173,600

-

-

6,173,600

11,664,083

(3,135,643)

589,986

9,118,426

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying notes.
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For the year ended 30 June 2010
Consolidated
Notes

2010
$

2009
$

2,026,338

-

(3,419,481)

(598,108)

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Exploration and evaluation expenditure

(85,739)

-

Interest received

119,711

254,101

(1,359,171)

(344,007)

(1,344,552)

(427,623)

Net cash outflow from operating activities

31

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Payment for acquisition of land and buildings – Alreco Pty Ltd

28

(1,500,000)

-

Payments for acquisition of plant and equipment – Alreco Pty Ltd

28

(1,554,950)

-

1,000

-

(633,630)

(530,013)

(5,032,132)

(957,636)

6,173,600

-

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issues of securities
Repayment of borrowings

(20,798)

(18,823)

6,152,802

(18,823)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents held

(238,501)

(1,320,466)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

2,524,633

3,845,099

2,286,132

2,524,633

Net cash inflows from financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

9

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with
the accompanying notes.
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For the year ended 30 June 2010
1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied during the year presented, unless otherwise stated.
(a) Basis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Urgent Issues
Group Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001.
Compliance with IFRS
The consolidated financial statements of Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited comply with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).
Financial statement presentation
The group has applied the revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements which became effective
on 1 January 2009. The revised standard requires the separate presentation of a statement of comprehensive
income and a statement of changes in equity. All non-owner changes in equity must now be presented in the
statement of comprehensive income. As a consequence, the group had to change the presentation of its financial
statements. Comparative information has been re-presented so that it is also in conformity with the revised
standard.
Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at
fair value through profit or loss, certain classes of property, plant and equipment and investment property.
Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 3.
Going concern
The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates the continuity of business
activities and the realisation of assets and the payment of liabilities in the normal course of business.
(b) Principles of consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Macquarie
Harbour Mining Limited (‘’company’’ or ‘’parent entity’’) as at 30 June 2010 and the results of all subsidiaries
for the year then ended. Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in this
financial report as the Group or the consolidated entity.
Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the
voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group (refer to
note 1(f)).
The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority interests as transactions with parties external
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to the Group. Disposals to minority interests result in gains and losses for the Group that are recorded in the
statement of comprehensive income. Purchases from minority interests result in goodwill, being the difference
between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of identifiable net assets of
the subsidiary.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position respectively.
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual financial statements of Macquarie Harbour
Mining Limited.
(ii) Changes in ownership interests
The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions
with equity owners of the group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment to the non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or
received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of Macquarie Harbour Mining
Limited.
When the group ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity
is remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
jointly controlled entity or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.
If the ownership interest in a jointly-controlled entity or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are classified to profit or loss where appropriate.
(c) Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the strategic steering committee.
The group has adopted AASB 8 Operating Segments from 1 July 2009. AASB 8 replaces AASB 114 Segment
Reporting. The new standard requires a ‘management approach’, under which segment information is presented
on the same basis as that used for internal purposes. This has resulted in an increase in the number of reportable
segments presented. In addition, the segments are reported in a manner that is consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.
(d) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue
are net of returns, trade allowances and duties and taxes paid.
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities
as described below. The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies
relating to the sale have been resolved. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
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Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:
(i) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method. When a receivable
is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash
flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as
interest income. Interest income on impaired loans is recognised using the original effective interest rate.
(e) Income tax
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period in the countries where the company’s subsidiaries and associates operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However,
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax asset
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends to either settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit and loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
(f) Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, including business
combinations involving entities or businesses under common control, regardless of whether equity instruments
or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the
fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the group. The
consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration arrangement and the fair
value of and pre-existing equity interests in the subsidiary. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, the group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquire either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the group’s share
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of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the
net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired and the measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the
difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted
to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under
comparable terms and conditions.
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial
liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Change in Accounting Policy
A revised AASB 3 Business Combinations became operative on 1 July 2009. While the revised standard continues
to apply the acquisition method to business combinations, there have been some significant changes.
All purchase consideration is now recorded at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent payments classified as
debt are subsequently remeasured through profit or loss. Under the group’s previous policy, contingent payments
were only recognised when the payments were probable and could be measured reliably and were accounted for
as an adjustment to the cost of acquisition.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Previously, they were recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition and therefore included in goodwill.
Non-controlling interests in an acquiree are now recognised either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets. This decision is made on an acquisition-byacquisition basis. Under the previous policy, the non-controlling interest was always recognised at its share of the
acquiree’s net identifiable assets.
If the group recognises previous acquired deferred tax assets after the initial acquisition accounting is completed
there will no longer be any adjustment to goodwill. As a consequence, the recognition of the deferred tax asset
will increase the group’s net profit after tax.
(g) Impairment of assets
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
(h) Cash and cash equivalents
For statement of cash flow presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits
held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the
statement of financial position.
(i) Investments and other financial assets
Classification
The Group classifies its investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification
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of its investments at initial recognition and, in the case of assets classified as held-to-maturity, re-evaluates this
designation at each reporting date.
(i) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months
after the statement of financial position date which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are
included in trade and other receivables in the statement of financial position (note 10).
Recognition and derecognition
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date - the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all
financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit
or loss are initially recognised at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the statement of comprehensive
income. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in
equity are included in the statement of comprehensive income as gains and losses from investment securities.
Subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Details on how the fair value of financial instruments is determined are disclosed in note 2.
(j) Fair value estimation
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their
fair values due to their short-term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated
by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group
for similar financial instruments.
(k) Property, plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical costs include expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses
on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued
amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
»
»
»
»
»

Furniture, fittings and equipment 5 -20 years
Computer equipment 4 years
Exploration equipment 5 years
Aluminium salt slag processing plant & equipment 8 – 10 years
Vehicles 8 -12 years
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The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of
financial position date.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 1(g)).
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included
in the statement of comprehensive income. When revalued assets are sold, it is Group policy to transfer the
amounts included in other reserves in respect of those assets to retained earnings.
(l) Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
(m) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities, which are not an incremental cost
relating to the actual draw-down of the facility, are recognised as prepayments and amortised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the facility.
Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in other income or other expenses.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.
(n) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that
is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed.
(o) Employee benefits
(i) Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave
expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other
payables in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected
to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
(ii) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the
reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary
levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted
using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
(iii) Share-based payments
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Macquarie Harbour Mining Employee
Option Plan. Information relating to these schemes is set out in note 34.
The fair value of options granted under the Macquarie Harbour Mining Employee Option Plan is recognised as an
employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and
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recognised over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options.
The fair value at grant date is independently determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes
into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and
expected price volatility of the underlying scheme and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option.
Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to
vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of
options that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity
(p) Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds.
(q) Earnings per share
(i) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the group, excluding
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year.
(ii) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary
shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation
to dilutive potential ordinary shares.
(r) Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the Group is accumulated separately for each
area of interest. Such expenditure comprises net direct costs and an appropriate portion of related overhead
expenditure, but does not include general overheads or administrative expenditure not having a specific nexus
with a particular area of interest.
Each area of interest is limited to a size related to a known or probable mineral resource capable of supporting a
mining operation.
Exploration and evaluation expenditure for each area of interest, other than that acquired from the purchase of
another mining consolidated entity, is carried forward as an asset provided that one of the following conditions is
met:
» such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of
interest or, alternatively, by its sale; and
» exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits a
reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and
significant operations in relation to the area are continuing.
Expenditure which fails to meet at least one of the conditions outlined above is written off, furthermore, the
Directors regularly review the carrying value of exploration and evaluation expenditure and make write downs if
the values are not expected to be recoverable.
Identifiable exploration assets acquired from another mining consolidated entity are recognised as assets at
their cost of acquisition, as determined by the requirements of AASB 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral
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resources. Exploration assets acquired are reassessed on a regular basis and these costs are carried forward
provided that at least one of the conditions referred to in AASB 6 is met.
Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred subsequent to acquisition in respect of an exploration asset
acquired, is accounted for in accordance with the policy outlined above for exploration expenditure incurred by
or on behalf of the entity.
Acquired exploration assets are not written down below acquisition cost until such time as the acquisition cost is
not expected to be recovered.
When an area of interest is abandoned, any expenditure carried forward in respect of that area is written off.
Expenditure is not carried forward in respect of any area of interest/mineral resource unless the Group’s rights of
tenure to that area of interest are current.
(s) Goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is
not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the
asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the
statement of financial position.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flow.
(t) New accounting standards and interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June
2010 reporting periods. The Group’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set
out below.
(i) AASB 2009-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Group Cash-Settled Share-based
Payment Transactions [AASB 2] (effective from 1 January 2010)
The amendments made by the AASB to AASB 2 confirm that an entity receiving goods or services in a group
share-based payment arrangement must recognise an expense for those goods and services regardless of which
entity in the group settles the transactions or whether the transaction is settled in shares or cash. They also clarify
how the group share-based payment arrangement should be measured, that is, whether it is measured as an
equity- or a cash-settled transaction. The group will apply these amendments retrospectively for the financial
reporting period commencing on 1 July 2010. There will be no impact on the group’s financial statements.
(ii) AASB 2009-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Rights issues
[AASB132] (effective from 1 February 2010)
In October 2009 the AASB issued an amendment to AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation which
addresses the accounting for rights issues that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
of the issuer. Provided certain conditions are met, such as rights issues are now classified as equity regardless
of the currency in which the exercise price is denominated. Previously, these issues had to be accounted for as
derivative liabilities. The amendment must be applied retrospectively in accordance with AASB 108 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. The group will apply the amended standard from 1 July
2010. As the group has not made any such rights issues, the amendment will not have any effect on the group’s
financial statements.
(iii) Revised AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards (effective from 1 January 2011)
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In December 2009 the AASB issued a revised AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. It is effective for the
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 and must be applied retrospectively. The amendment
removes the requirement for government-related entities to disclose details of all transactions with the
government and other government-related entities and clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related party.
The group will apply the amended standard from 1 July 2011. When the amendments are applied, the group will
need to disclose any transactions between its subsidiaries and its associates. However, it has yet to put systems
into place to capture the necessary information. It is therefore not possible to disclose the financial impact, if any,
of the amendment on the related party disclosures.
(iv) AASB Interpretation 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments and AASB 2009-13
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Interpretations 19 (effective from 1 July
2010)
AASB Interpretation 19 clarifies the accounting when an entity renegotiates the terms of its debt with the result
that the liability is extinguished by the debtor issuing its own equity instruments to the creditor (debt for equity
swap). It requires a gain or loss to be recognised in profit or loss which
is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability and the fair
value of the equity instruments issued. The group will apply the interpretation from 1 July 2010. It is not expected
to have any impact on the group’s financial statements since it is only retrospectively applied from the beginning
of the earliest period presented (1 July 2009) and the group has not entered into any debt for equity swaps since
that date.
(v) AASB 2009-14 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
Requirement (effective from 1 July 2010)
In December 2009, the AASB made an amendment to Interpretation 14 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction. The amendment removes and unintended consequence
of the interpretation related to voluntary prepayments when there is a minimum funding requirement in regard
to the entity’s defined benefit scheme. It permits entities to recognise an asset for a prepayment of contributions
made to cover minimum funding requirements. The group does not make any such prepayments. The
amendment is therefore not expected to have any impact on the group’s financial statements. The group intends
to apply the amendment from 1 July 2011.
2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Overview
The Group have exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments:
» credit risk;
» liquidity risk;
» market risk (including interest rate risk and price risk); and
» capital management
This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management
framework. Management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the group through
regular reviews of the risks.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails
to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and
investment securities.
(i) Investments
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities and only with counterparties that
have an acceptable credit rating.
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(ii) Trade and other receivables
As the Group operates in the mining explorer sector, it does not have trade receivables and therefore is not
exposed to credit risk in relation to trade receivables.
The Group have established an allowance for impairment that represents their estimate of incurred losses
in respect of other receivables and investments. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss
component that relates to individually significant exposures. The management does not expect any counterparty
to fail to meet its obligations.
Presently, the Group undertakes exploration and evaluation activities exclusively in Australia. At the statement of
financial position date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:
Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

Cash and cash equivalents

2,286,132

2,524,633

Trade Receivables

1,011,792

-

Credit Quality

3,297,924

2,524,633

Financial assets

The two trade receivables as at 30 June 2010 were Project Development Corporation Pty Ltd (PDC) and SIMS
Aluminium Pty Ltd. Their credit terms are 30 days which they have not previously breached or defaulted on
payment on any occasion.
(iii) Guarantees
Group policy is to provide financial guarantees only to wholly-owned subsidiaries.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity
to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses
or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves by continuously monitoring forecast and
actual cash flows.
The Group does not anticipate a need to raise additional capital in the next 12 months to meet forecasted
operational activities. The decision on how the Group will raise future capital will depend on market conditions
existing at that time.
Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a
period of 60 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme
circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and
excluding the impact of netting agreements:
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Consolidated
2010

Carrying
Amount
$

Contractual
Cash Flows
$

6 months
or less
$

6 to 12
months
$

1 to 2
years
$

2 to 5
years
$

More than
5 years
$

Hire purchase liabilities

92,316

108,707

15,601

15,601

31,202

46,303

-

Credit cards

15,276

15,276

15,276

-

-

-

-

Trade and other payables

Consolidated
2009
Hire purchase liabilities
Credit cards
Trade and other payables

1,534,583

1,534,583

1,534,583

-

-

-

-

1,642,175

1,658,566

1,565,460

15,601

31,202

46,303

-

Carrying
Amount
$

Contractual
Cash Flows
$

6 months
or less
$

6 to 12
months
$

1 to 2
years
$

2 to 5
years
$

More than
5 years
$

113,114

139,910

15,601

15,601

31,202

77,506

-

8,665

8,665

8,665

-

-

-

-

111,899

111,899

111,899

-

-

-

-

233,678

260,474

136,165

15,601

31,202

77,506

-

Market Risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operations are limited to domestic activities within Australia.
Group sensitivity
The Group’s profit would not be materially different due to changes in exchange rates.
(ii) Price risk
The Group is not exposed to equity securities price risk as it holds no investments in securities classified on the
statement of financial position as either available-for-sale or at fair value through the profit or loss. The Group is
not exposed directly to commodity price risk.
(iii) Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate for classes of financial
assets is set out below:

Consolidated

2010

2009

Weighted average
interest rate

Balance AUD
$

Weighted average
interest rate

Balance AUD
$

4.25 %

2,136,107

2.86%

2,424,609

5.00 %

150,025

3.60%

100,024

Variable interest rate:
Cash and cash equivalents
Fixed interest rate
Cash and cash equivalents

2,286,132

2,524,633
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The Group has significant interest-bearing assets; however a percentage change in interest rates would not have
a material impact on the results.
Group sensitivity
At 30 June 2010, if interest rates had changed by -/+ 80 basis points from the year-end rates with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been $19,240 lower/higher, mainly as a result
of higher/lower interest income from cash and cash equivalents. Equity would have been $19,240 lower/higher
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income from cash and cash equivalents.
At 30 June 2010, if interest rates had changed by -/+ 60 basis points from the year-end rates with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been $14,430 lower/higher, mainly as a result
of higher/lower interest income from cash and cash equivalents. Equity would have been $14,430 lower/higher
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income from cash and cash equivalents.
Fair values
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for
disclosure purposes.
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation
techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions
existing at each balance date.
Fair values versus carrying amounts
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of
financial position, are as follows:
2010
Consolidated

2009

Carrying Amount
$

Fair Value
$

Carrying Amount
$

Fair Value
$

Cash and cash equivalents

2,286,132

2,286,132

2,524,633

2,524,633

Trade and other
receivables

1,105,223

1,105,223

-

-

Hire purchase liabilities

92,316

92,316

113,114

113,114

Other loans

15,276

15,276

8,665

8,665

Trade and other payables

1,534,583

1,534,583

111,899

111,899

5,033,530

5,033,530

2,758,311

2,758,311

The carrying amounts of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to the
short-term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the
future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the group for similar financial
instruments. The fair value of current borrowings approximates the carrying amount, as the impact of discounting
is not significant.
Capital Management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence
and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which
the Group defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity.
There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the Group and that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.
1) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. There were no estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.
(a) Exploration and evaluation expenditure
The Group has carrying balances for exploration and evaluation. Each year the Group assesses whether these
balances have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 1 (r). The
recoverable amounts are based on the assumption that the assets will either become economic mining properties
or saleable to a potential third party.
(b) Share based payments
The Group uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model in accounting for its share-based payments. The BlackScholes model takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price
at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying scheme and the risk free interest rate for the term
of the option. The fair value of options granted under the Macquarie Harbour Mining Employee Option Plan is
recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at
grant date and recognised over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the
options.
4 SEGMENT INFORMATION
(i) Description of Segment
Management has determined the operating segments based on reports reviewed by the strategic steering
committee that are used to make strategic decisions.
The committee identified two reporting segments, prospecting and mining exploration and aluminium salt slag
processing. The Group operates only in Australia.
Segment information provided to the strategic steering committee
2010
Total Segment Revenue
Cost of Sales
Pre-operational Expenses

Prospecting and
Mining Exploration

Aluminium Salt Slag
Processing

Total

119,711

2,735,528

2,855,239

-

839,246

839,246

-

977,051

977,051

Other Overhead Expenses

2,418,232

642,955

3,061,187

Total Segment Expenses

2,418,232

2,459,252

4,877,484

(2,361,936)

380,587

(1,981,349)

45,891

104,311

150,202

4,635,137

6,134,309

10,769,446

321,897

1,329,123

1,651,020

Adjusted EBITDA
Depreciation and amortisation
Total Segment Assets
Total Segment Liabilities
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5 REVENUE
Revenue from continuing operations

Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

2,556,869

-

123,017

-

41,689

-

Sales Revenue
Tolling Income
Management Fees
Product Income
Other Income

13,953
2,735,528

-

119,711

254,101

2,855,239

254,101

Other revenue
Interest received

6 OTHER INCOME
Consolidated

Other Income
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2010
$

2009
$

-

1,053
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7 EXPENSES
Loss before income tax includes the following expenses:

Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

175,309

89,390

25,374

17,975

(50,481)

(67,656)

150,202

39,709

993,718

616,624

(231,402)

(417,450)

762,316

199,174

16,929

6,800

Depreciation
Plant and equipment
Motor vehicles
Amount capitalised – exploration and evaluation
Employee benefit expense
Salaries, fees and other benefits
Amount capitalised – exploration and evaluation
Other expenses
Advertising
Borrowing costs

158

158

Cleaning

10,507

840

Computer Requisites

11,217

-

Conferences and seminars

836

1,304

56,541

-

Entertainment

2,240

-

Formation Expenses

5,326

-

Freight & Cartage

4,636

-

Fringe benefits tax

7,756

7,756

111,888

13,207

Electricity

General expenses
Hire of equipment

4,907

3,544

Interest paid

10,405

13,033

Legal costs

84,766

18,565

5,862

-

Motor vehicle expenses

12,900

7,761

Payroll Tax

18,529

-

Printing, postage and stationary

15,289

3,922

Repairs and maintenance

18,987

9,221

Subscriptions and donations

12,374

4,377

Telephone

33,958

26,152

Travel expenses

73,667

20,524

Loss on sale of non-current assets

Write-off of Leasehold Improvements

6,082

-

525,760

137,164
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8 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

Current tax

-

-

Deferred tax

-

-

-

-

Income tax expense

Numerical Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie
tax payable
Loss before income tax

(2,022,245)

(422,030)

Prima facie income tax at 30%

(606,673)

(126,609)

Tax loss not recognised

(606,673)

(126,609)

-

-

(2,022,245)

(422,030)

(606,673)

(126,609)

(712,301)

(409,102)

2,265

1,231

Exploration expenditure

(4,906)

(177,333)

Employee entitlements

32,505

2,732

Options expense

100,671

(16,853)

Pre-operating and share issue expense

213,023

-

(8,145)

13,633

(983,561)

(712,301)

-

-

Current tax – credited directly to equity

-

-

Net deferred tax – debited (credited) directly to equity

-

-

-

-

Income tax expense/(benefit)
Numerical Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie
tax payable
Loss before income tax
Prima facie income tax at 30%
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in
calculating taxable income:
Opening losses carried forward
Entertainment

Sundry items
Tax loss not recognised
Income tax expense/(benefit)
Amounts recognised directly in equity
Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the reporting period
and not recognised in net profit or loss or other comprehensive
income but directly debited or credited to equity:
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Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

-

-

-

-

(3,278,537)

(2,374,336)

(983,561)

(712,301)

Timing

334,408

483

Losses - revenue

983,561

712,301

381,638

376,731

Tax Expense (income) relating to items of other comprehensive
income
Share of other comprehensive income

Tax losses
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been
recognised
Potential tax benefit at 30%
Unrecognised temporary differences
Unrecognised Deferred Tax Assets

Unrecognised Deferred Tax Liabilities
Timing

Net deferred tax assets have not been brought to account as it is not probable within the immediate future that
tax profit will be available against which tax losses can be utilised.
9 CURRENT ASSETS – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and on hand

Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

2,286,132

2,524,633

Interest rate risk exposure
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in note 2.
Undrawn cash facilities
The Group has undrawn cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2010 amounting to $80,927 (2009: $180,552).
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10 CURRENT ASSETS – TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Consolidated
2010
$
Trade Receivables

2009
$

1,011,792

-

91,653

22,669

1,778

-

1,105,223

22,669

GST receivables
Other

Other receivables
These amounts generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Group. Interest may
be charged at commercial rates where the terms or repayment exceed six months. Collateral is not normally
obtained.
Interest rate risk
Information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk in relation to trade and other receivables is provided
in note 2.
Impaired receivables and receivables past due
None of the current receivables are impaired or past due but not impaired.
Fair value and credit risk
Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair
value.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount each class of receivables
mentioned above. Refer to note 2 for more information on the risk management policy of the Group and the
credit quality of the entity’s trade receivables.
Consolidated

Prepaid finance expenses
Prepaid insurance expenses

2010
$

2009
$

412

570

32,556

-

32,968

570

a. Prepaid finance expenses are expired over the life of the finance agreement it relates to.
b. Prepaid insurance expenses are expired over the life of the policies it relates to.
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11 NON CURRENT ASSETS – EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION
Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

1,460,057

1,354,497

At the beginning of the period

1,354,497

763,388

Expenditure during the period

832,629

591,109

(727,069)

-

1,460,057

1,354,497

Exploration and evaluation
Exploration and evaluation – costs less amounts written off
Reconciliation

Expenditure written off

The ultimate recoupment of exploration and evaluation costs carried forward is dependent upon the successful
development and/or commercial exploitation, or alternatively sale, of the respective areas of interest.
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12 NON CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

1,500,000

-

Land and Buildings
Land and Buildings – at fair value
Reconciliation
At the beginning of the year

-

-

Additions

1,500,000

-

Closing net book value

1,500,000

-

1,896,403

-

-

-

Additions

1,896,403

-

Closing net book value

1,896,403

-

2,548,013

801,119

Plant Improvements
Land and Buildings – at cost
Reconciliation
At the beginning of the year

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment – at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

(263,043)

(114,109)

2,284,970

687,010

Reconciliation
At the beginning of the year
Additions
Depreciation (Note 7)
Closing net book value

687,010

293,097

1,773,269

483,303

(175,309)

(89,390)

2,284,970

687,010

252,784

139,685

Motor vehicles
Motor vehicles – at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation
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112,647
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Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

At the beginning of the year

112,647

130,622

Additions

123,283

-

Reconciliation

Disposals

(6,863)

-

Depreciation (Note 7)

(25,374)

(17,975)

Closing net book value

203,693

112,647

Land & Buildings

1,500,000

-

Plant Improvements

1,896,403

-

Plant & Equipment

2,284,970

687,010

Motor Vehicles

203,693

112,647

5,885,066

799,657

-

166,672

-

5,326

Trade payables

1,336,309

73,214

Other payables

195,063

38,685

1,531,372

111,899

22,980

20,797

15,275

8,665

38,255

29,462

13 NON CURRENT ASSETS – DEFERRED ASSETS
Capital asset not ready for use
14 NON CURRENT ASSETS – INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Formation expenses to expense
15 CURRENT LIABILITIES – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing liabilities stated
at cost and settled within 30 days. Amounts not expected to be
settled within 12 months: $Nil.
16 CURRENT LIABILITIES – BORROWINGS
Secured
Hire purchase liabilities
Unsecured
Other loans
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Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

8,846

8,846

69,336

92,317

92,316

113,114

91,420

104,909

Security and fair value disclosures
Information about the security relating to each of the secured
liabilities and the fair value of each of the borrowings is provided in
note 19.
Risk exposures
Details of the Group’s exposure to risks arising from current and
non-current borrowings are set out in note 2.
17 NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Acquisition of subsidiary – Goldstock Mining Pty Ltd
18 NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – BORROWINGS
Secured
Hire purchase liabilities
Secured liabilities and assets pledged as security
Hire purchase liabilities
Hire purchase liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the
assets recognised in the financial statements revert to the finance
company in the event of default.
The carrying amounts of assets pledged as security for current and
non-current borrowings are:
Hire purchase liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Fair value
The carrying amounts and fair values of borrowings at balance date are:
2010
Consolidated

2009

Carrying Amount
$

Fair Value
$

Carrying Amount
$

Fair Value
$

92,316

92,316

113,114

113,114

92,316

92,316

113,114

113,114

Consolidated
Hire purchase liabilities
Parent Entity
Hire purchase liabilities

Risk exposures
Details of the Group’s exposure to risks arising from current and non-current borrowings are set out in note 2.
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19 CURRENT LIABILITIES – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Consolidated

Other payables

2010
$

2009
$

3,211

-

3,211

-

20 CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
Share capital
Ordinary shares – fully paid

2010
Number

2009
Number

2010
$

2009
$

87,538,260

54,995,760

11,429,997

5,256,397

Options – unlisted
Options – listed

7,380,750

4,780,750

-

-

27,455,385

27,497,885

234,086

234,086

11,664,083

5,490,483

Movement in ordinary share capital
Date

Details

At beginning of reporting period

Number of
shares

Issue price
$

54,995,760

03 November 2009

Issued

01 December 2009

Exercise of Options

04 December 2009

Exercise of Options

17 December 2009

Issued

15 March 2010

Exercise of Options

15,000,000

0.20

3,000,000

32,500

0.20

6,500

5,000

0.20

1,000

17,500,000

0.20

3,500,000

5,000

0.20

1,000
11,764,897

Less: Transaction costs arising on share issue
30 June 2010

$
5,256,397

Balance

(334,900)
87,538,260

11,429,997

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the group in
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. On a show of hands every holder of ordinary
shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each share is entitled
to one vote.
Options
At the end of the period, options over ordinary shares on issue are as shown below:
»
»
»
»
»
»
»

2,380,750 unlisted options exercisable at 20 cents and expiring 31 August 2012.
27,455,385 listed options exercisable at 20 cents and expiring 31 August 2012.
1,200,000 unlisted options exercisable at 20 cents and expiring 28 November 2013.
1,000,000 unlisted options exercisable at 20 cents and expiring 14 December 2013.
450,000 unlisted options exercisable at 25 cents and expiring 9 October 2014.
2,250,000 unlisted options exercisable at 28 cents and expiring 30 November 2014.
100,000 unlisted options exercisable at 28 cents and expiring 5 January 2015.
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Date

Details

Number of shares Issue price
$

At beginning of reporting period

$

32,278,635

-

234,086

9 October 2009

Issued options pursuant to an agreement

450,000

-

-

14 October 2009

Reversal of Issued options pursuant to an
agreement (Per Amended 3B – 14/10/09)

(100,000)

-

-

14 October 2009

Reversal of Issued options pursuant to an
agreement (Per Amended 3B – 14/10/09)

(100,000)

-

-

-

-

-

-

1 December 2009

Exercise of Listed Options

(32,500)

4 December 2009

Exercise of Listed Options

(5,000)

17 December 2009

Issued options pursuant to an agreement

2,250,000

5 January 2010

Issued options pursuant to an agreement

100,000

15 March 2010

Exercise of Listed Options

At reporting date

(5,000)
34,836,135

234,086

Capital management process
Details of the Group’s capital management process are set out in note 2.
21 RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS
Reserves

Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

589,986

254,415

Balance 1 July

254,415

230,933

Employee share plan expense

335,571

23,482

Balance 30 June

589,986

254,415

Balance 1 July

(1,113,398)

(691,368)

Net profit/(loss) for the year

(2,022,245)

(422,030)

Balance 30 June

(3,135,643)

(1,113,398)

Share-based payments reserve
Movements in share-based payments reserve were as follows:

Accumulated losses
Movements in retained profits were as follows:

Nature and purpose of reserves
Share-based payments reserve
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise:
» the fair value of options issued to employees but not exercised.
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22 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
Directors
The following persons were Directors of Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited during the financial period.
Chairman – non executive
B A Conti
Executive Directors
B W Mead
F A Rogers, Managing Director
Non-executive Directors
N R Allen
P L A Robertson
P Lucas (resigned 11/09/09)
Key management personnel compensation
Consolidated

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Share-based payments

2010
$

2009
$

521,990

391,383

60,848

47,919

257,778

22,675

840,616

461,975

Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel
Options provided as remuneration and shares issued on exercise of such options
Details of options provided as remuneration and shares issued on the exercise of such options, together with
terms and conditions of the options, can be found in section D of the audited remuneration report in the
Directors Report.
Option holdings
The numbers of options over ordinary shares in the group held during the financial period by each Director of
Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally
related parties, are set out below.
2010
Name

Balance at Granted during
the start of
the period as
the year
remuneration

Exercised
during the
period

Options
issued
during the
period

Balance at
the end of
the year

Vested and
exercisable
at the end
of the
period

Directors of Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited
B A Conti

432,500

-

-

250,000

682,500

-

B W Mead

2,270,001

-

-

750,000

3,020,001

-

F A Rogers

7,762,503

-

-

750,000

8,512,503

-

N R Allen

200,000

-

-

250,000

450,000

-

P L A Robertson

175,001

-

-

250,000

425,001

-

P Lucas
(resigned
11/09/09)

250,000

-

-

-

250,000

-
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All vested options are exercisable at the end of the year.
Share holdings
The numbers of shares in the group held during the financial period by each Director of Macquarie Harbour
Mining Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are
set out below. There were no shares granted during the reporting period as compensation.

2010

Balance at the start of
the year

Name

Received during the
year on the exercise
of the options

Other changes
during the year

Balance at the end
of the year

Directors of Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited
Ordinary shares
B A Conti

365,000

-

91,250

456,250

B W Mead

2,040,001

-

(100,000)

1,940,001

F A Rogers

13,025,006

-

(2,393,750)

10,631,256

N R Allen

200,001

-

25,000

225,001

PLA
Robertson

250,001

-

62,501

312,502

2009

Balance at Granted during
the start of
the period as
the year
remuneration

Exercised
during the
period

Options
issued
during the
period

Balance at
the end of
the year

Vested and
exercisable
at the end
of the
period

Name
Directors of Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited
B A Conti

182,500

-

-

250,000

432,500

-

B W Mead

1,520,001

-

-

750,000

2,270,001

-

F A Rogers

7,012,503

-

-

750,000

7,762,503

-

100,000

-

-

100,000

200,000

-

75,001

-

-

100,000

175,001

-

P Lucas

-

-

-

250,000

250,000

-

2009

Balance at the start
of the year

N R Allen
P L A Robertson

Name

Received during
the year on the
exercise of the
options

Other changes
during the year

Balance at
the end of
the year

Directors of Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited Ordinary shares
B A Conti

365,000

-

-

365,000

B W Mead

2,040,001

-

-

2,040,001

F A Rogers

13,025,006

-

-

13,025,006

N R Allen

200,001

-

-

200,001

P L A Robertson

150,001

-

100,000

250,001

-

-

-

-

P Lucas
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Loans to key management personnel
There are no loans to Directors or other key management personnel of Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited.
Other transactions with key management personnel
During the year, the Group was charged $57,931 (2009: $69,301) by Harden East & Conti Pty Ltd for business and
taxation services. Harden East & Conti Pty Ltd is a company associated with Mr B A Conti.
During the year, the Group was charged $87,626 (2009: $103,580) by Ageicion Pty Ltd which is the corporate
trustee for the Mead Family Trust for consulting services. Ageicion Pty Ltd is a company associated with Mr B W
Mead.
During the year, the Group was charged $31,260 (2009: $19,059) by Rogers Engineering Services Pty Ltd for
consulting services, construction of plant and equipment and rental services. Rogers Engineering Services Pty Ltd
is a company associated with Mr F A Rogers.
During the year, the Group was charged $3,944 (2009: $35,136) by Pullinger Redhead Lucas for legal services.
Pullinger Redhead Lucas is a company associated with Mr P Lucas.
During December 2009 a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Alreco Pty Ltd (Alreco) contracted with a joint
venture of parties (Joint Venture), which included entities controlled by Mr Frank Rogers and Mr Peter Robertson,
to sub-licence the right to use the aluminium salt slag processing technology owned by the Joint Venture for
application by Alreco in activities conducted within Australia and exclusive usage rights in overseas applications.
In addition, Alreco and the Joint Venture executed a processing and sales agreement under which Alreco agreed
to process contracted Australian salt slag waste on behalf of all parties for a contracted fee. The fees payable by
Alreco for the access to the technology in Australia and exclusive international access rights have been calculated
in accordance with normal commercial terms.
During January 2010, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Alreco Pty Ltd (Alreco) contracted Project
Development Corporation controlled by Mr Frank Rogers to undertake the upgrade of the existing plant acquired
as part of the Sims Metal’s aluminium processing facility to implement the new aluminium salt slag technology.
The total contracted sum of $2,000,000 was calculated in accordance with normal commercial terms. To the 30th
June 2010 amounts totaling $1,850,890 had been paid by Alreco in respect to the plant upgrade and technology
implementation to Project Development Corporation Pty Ltd.

Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

56,160

69,301

1,771

-

Aggregate amounts of each of the above types of other transactions with
key management personnel of Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited:
Amounts recognised as expense
Harden, East & Conti Pty Ltd
Accountancy
Travel
Rogers Engineering Services Pty Ltd
Aluminium Facilitation

23,820

-

80

1,050

-

16,900

Repairs and maintenance

6,155

1,606

Telephone

1,205

753

87,280

103,580

Motor Vehicle expense
Rental expense

Ageicion Pty Ltd
Consulting fees

59

For personal use only

FINANCIAL REPORT / NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

346

-

Salaries and wages

84,711

27,000

Superannuation contributions

16,875

1,944

26,160

25,179

Travel
Mr F A Rogers

Mr B A Conti
Superannuation contributions
Mr B W Mead
Directors’ fees
Salaries and wages
Superannuation contributions

6,000

12,000

105,417

-

10,028

1,080

12,000

12,000

1,080

1,080

12,000

12,000

1,080

1,080

Mr N R Allen
Directors’ fees
Superannuation contributions
Mr P L A Robertson
Directors’ fees
Superannuation contributions
Mr P Lucas
Directors’ fees

7,000

-

459,168

286,553

-

35,136

-

35,136

1,850,890

-

Caravan

-

4,489

Drill rig

-

8,650

Amounts recognised as expense
Pullinger Redhead Lucas
Legal Fees
Amounts recognised as property, plant and equipment
Project Development Corporation Pty Ltd
Plant Upgrade
Rogers Engineering Services Pty Ltd

Mr F A Rogers
Purchase of boat (including salaries and wages, superannuation)

-

13,285

1,850,890

26,424

-

10,080

-

10,080

Amounts recognised as office furniture and equipment
Rogers Engineering Services Pty Ltd
Office furniture
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Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

2,840

1,360

183,762

119,771

5,625

11,209

3,944

-

196,171

132,340

-

15,360

-

57,708

Amounts recognised as exploration and evaluation
Rogers Engineering Services Pty Ltd
Amounts paid in relation to exploration and evaluation
Mr F A Rogers
Amounts paid in relation to exploration and evaluation
Salaries and wages
Superannuation
Pullinger Redhead Lucas
Legal Fees

Amounts recognised as deferred assets
Rogers Engineering Services Pty Ltd
Amounts paid in relation to the Aluminium project
Mr F A Rogers
Salaries and wages- Aluminium project
M B W Mead
Superannuation – Aluminium project

-

5,250

-

78,318

18,769

13,751

789,030

-

Aggregate amounts payable to key management personnel of
the Group at balance date relating to the above types of other
transactions:
Current liabilities
Harden East & Conti Pty Ltd
Project Development Corporation Pty Ltd
Pullinger Redhead Lucas

-

399

807,799

14,150
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23 REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
During the period the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent
entity, its related practices and non-related audit firms:
Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

Audit services
BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd
Audit and review of financial reports

32,380

27,670

Total remuneration for audit services

32,380

27,670

Taxation Advice

1,929

9,530

Total remuneration for non-audit services

1,929

9,530

34,309

37,200

Non-audit services
Audit-related services
BDO Corporate & International Tax (WA) Pty Ltd

Total remuneration

24 CONTINGENCIES
During the period the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent
entity, its related practices and non-related audit firms:
25 COMMITMENTS
Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

75,958

94,283

-

94,283

Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but not
recognised as liabilities is as follows:
Exploration and evaluation
Payable:
Within one year
Later than one year but not later than five years
Later than five years
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Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

Within one year

31,202

31,202

Later than one year but not later than five years

77,505

108,708

Minimum finance payments

108,707

139,910

Future finance charges

(16,391)

(26,796)

92,316

113,114

Current (note 17)

22,980

20,797

Non-current (note 19)

69,336

92,317

92,316

113,114

1,850,890

23,219

Purchases of consulting services from other related parties

87,280

138,716

Purchases of business and taxation services from other related parties

56,160

69,301

60,848

47,919

Finance commitments
Hire purchase liabilities
The Group finances various plant and equipment with a carrying amount of
$92,316 (2009:$113,114) under hire purchase agreements expiring within
the next five years.
Commitments in relation to hire purchase agreements are payable as
follows:

Later than five years

Total hire purchase liabilities
Representing hire purchase liabilities:

26 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Parent entities
The parent entity within the Group is Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited.
Subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 29.
Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 23.
Transactions with related parties
Purchases of goods and services
Purchases of property, plant and equipment from other related parties

Superannuation Contributions
Contributions to superannuation funds on behalf of employees
Share-based payments
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Consolidated

Compensation received from employee option plan (note 34)

2010
$

2009
$

257,778

22,673

410,890

252,667

23,972

32,056

2,840

1,360

13,349

15,360

789,030

14,150

Other transactions
Remuneration paid to Directors of the Australian parent entity
Payment of company expenses
Amounts paid in relation to exploration and evaluation
Amounts paid in relation to aluminium project
Outstanding balances arising from purchases of goods and services
Current payables (purchases of services)
Other related parties

No provisions for doubtful debts have been raised in relation to any outstanding balances, and no expense has
been recognised in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from related parties.
No provisions for doubtful debts have been raised in relation to any outstanding balances, and no expense has
been recognised in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from related parties.
Terms and conditions
All other transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates.
Outstanding balances are unsecured and are repayable in cash.

27 BUSINESS COMBINATION
On 6 November 2009 the parent entity acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Alreco Pty Ltd.
On 15 January 2010, Alreco Pty Ltd acquired the Aluminium Salt Slag Processing assets and liabilities from SIMS
Aluminium Pty Ltd.
Alreco Pty Ltd contributed revenues of $2,735,528 and a net profit of $1,008,021 to the group for the period 15
January 2010 to 30 June 2010.

Summary of acquisition
$
Purchase consideration
Cash Paid

3,000,000

Total purchase consideration

3,000,000
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Assets and liabilities acquired
$

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows;
Fair Value
Land and Buildings

1,500,000

Plant & Equipment

1,554,950

Provision for employee entitlements

(80,820)

Goodwill written off

25,870

Net assets acquired

3,000,000

28 SUBSIDIARIES
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results for the following subsidiary in
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1(b):

Name of entity

Country of
incorporation

Class of shares

Equity holding
2010

2009

%

%

Goldstock Mining Pty Limited

Australia

Ordinary

100

100

Alreco Pty Ltd

Australia

Ordinary

100

n/a

Goldstock East Africa Limted

Tanzania

Ordinary

100

n/a

29 EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATE
Except for the events discussed above, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June
2010 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect:
a. the Group’s operations in future financial years;
b. the results of those operations in future financial years; or
c. the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.
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30 RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT AFTER INCOME TAX TO
NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Consolidated

Operating profit (loss) after income tax
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Employee Entitlements expense
Borrowing costs

2010
$

2009
$

(2,022,245)

(422,030)

5,862

-

78,771

9,108

158

158

Depreciation

150,202

39,709

Option expense

335,571

(56,178)

5,326

-

Formation expenses
Non-cash exploration expense written off
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
Net cash (outflow) from operating activities

641,330

-

(1,086,060)

71,901

531,914

13,325

(1,359,171)

(344,007)

10

-

(0.0272)

(0.0077)

(2,022,245)

(422,030)

74,231,281

54,995,760

31 NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of Alreco Pty Ltd by means of share issue
32 EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share
Loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company
Reconciliations of earnings used in calculating earnings per share
Loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company
Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
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33 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Employee option plan
The establishment of the Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited employee share option plan was established on the
7 December 2007. Under the plan, the board may issue options to participants (or to a nominee as the participant
directs) having regard, in each case, to:
a. the contribution to the Company which has been made by the participant;
b. the period of employment of the participant with the company, including (but not limited to) the years of
service by that participant;
c. the potential contribution of the participant to the company; and
d. any other matters which the board considers in its absolute discretion, to be relevant.
When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share.
The exercise price of options is the exercise price determined by the board on or before the issue date provided
that in no event shall the exercise price be less than the weighted average sale price of shares sold on ASX during
the five business days prior to the issue date or such other period as determined by the board.
Set out below are summaries of options granted under the plan:
Grant
date

Expiry
date

Exercise
price

Balance at
the start
of the
year
Number

Granted
during
the year
Number

Exercised
during
the year
Number

Forfeited
during
the year
Number

Balance
at end of
the year
Number

Vested and
exercisable
at end of the
year
Number

Consolidated and parent entity – 2010
07 Dec
2007

31 Aug
2012

$0.20

1,000,000

-

-

-

1,000,000

1,000,000

12 Dec
2008

28 Nov
2013

$0.20

1,000,000

-

-

-

1,000,000

1,000,000

18 Dec
2008

14 Dec
2013

$0.20

1,200,000

-

-

-

1,200,000

1,200,000

09 Oct
2009

09 Oct
2009

$0.25

-

450,000

-

-

450,000

450,000

17 Dec
2009

30 Nov
2014

$0.28

-

2,250,000

-

-

2,250,000

2,250,000

05 Jan
2010

05 Jan
2015

$0.28

-

100,000

-

-

100,000

100,000

No options expired during the period covered by the table above.
Fair value of options granted
The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted during the year ended 30 June 2010 was $0.12 per
option (2009 –$0.07). The fair value at grant date is independently determined using a Black-Scholes option
pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share
price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share and the risk free interest rate for the term
of the option.
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The model inputs for options granted during the year ended 30 June 2010 included:
Option 1:
a. options are granted for no consideration and vest based on Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited’s TSR ranking
within a peer group of 20 selected companies over a three year period.
b. exercise price: $0.25.
c. grant date: 9 October 2009.
d. expiry date: 9 October 2014.
e. share price at grant date: $0.25.
f. expected price volatility of the company’s shares: 120%.
g. risk-free interest rate: 5.3%.
Option 2:
a. options are granted for no consideration and vest based on Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited’s TSR ranking
within a peer group of 20 selected companies over a three year period.
b. Exercise price: $0.28
c. Grant date: 17 December 2009.
d. Expiry date: 30 November 2014.
e. Share price at grant date: $0.24.
f. Expected price volatility of the company’s shares: 120%.
g. Risk-free interest rate: 5.3%.
Option 3:
a. options are granted for no consideration and vest based on Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited’s TSR ranking
within a peer group of 20 selected companies over a three year period.
b. Exercise price: $0.28
c. Grant date: 5 January 2010.
d. Expiry date: 5 January 2015.
e. Share price at grant date: $0.28.
f. Expected price volatility of the company’s shares: 120%.
g. Risk-free interest rate: 5.3%.
The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility adjusted for any expected changes to future
volatility due to publicly available information.
Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions
Total expenses arising from share-based payments transactions recognised during the period as part of employee
benefit expense were as follows:
Consolidated

Options issued under employee option plan
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2009
$

335,571

(56,178)
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34 GUARANTEES
Macquarie Harbour Mining Ltd is party to a bank guarantee under which it has guaranteed the tenement bonds
for Goldstock Mining Pty Ltd. The guarantees on issue at 30 June 2010 are $113,932 (2009: $40,380) with
undrawn amounts of $36,068 (2009: $59,620).
35 PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION
The following details information related to the parent entity, Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited, at 30 June
2010. The information presented here has been prepared using consistent accounting policies as presented in
Note 1.
Consolidated
2010
$

2009
$

Current assets

2,275,994

2,543,218

Non-current assets

7,133,142

2,319,385

Total assets

9,409,136

4,862,603

249,066

140,601

69,336

92,317

318,402

232,918

11,664,083

5,490,483

589,986

254,415

Accumulated losses

(3,163,335)

(1,115,213)

Total equity

9,090,734

4,629,685

Profit/(loss) for the year

(2,048,122)

(422,994)

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Contributed Equity
Share based payments reserve

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

-

-

(2,048,122)

(422,994)
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For the year ended 30 June 2010
The Directors of the group declare that:
(a) The financial statements, comprising the statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial position,
statement of cash flow, statement of changes in equity and accompanying notes, are in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001; and
(i) comply with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory
professional reporting requirements; and
(ii) give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of it’s
performance for the financial period ended on that date.
(b) In the Directors opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the group will be able to pay its debts
as and when they become due and payable3; and
(c) In the Directors opinion, the consolidated entity has included in the notes to the financial statements an
explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
(d) The remuneration disclosures set out on pages 17 to 23 of the Directors’ report (as part of the audited
Remuneration Report) comply with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001; and
(e) The Directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer required by section 295A of the
Corporations Act 2001.
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed on behalf of the
Directors by:

B A Conti
Director
Perth, Western Australia
30 September 2010
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF MACQUARIE HARBOUR MINING LIMITED

Report on the Financial Report

Tel: +8 6382 4600
Fax: +8 6382 4601
www.bdo.com.au

38 Station Street
Subiaco, WA 6008
PO Box 700 West Perth WA 6872
Australia

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited, which
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2010, and the statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year
ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the
Directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it
controlled at the year’s end or from
time to time
during theREPORT
financial year.
INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S
TO THE MEMBERS OF MACQUARIE HARBOUR MINING LIMITED
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
Report on the Financial Report
The Directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial
report inthe
accordance
with Australian
Accounting
Standards
(including
theLimited,
Australian
We have audited
accompanying
financial report
of Macquarie
Harbour
Mining
which
Accounting
Interpretations)
and the Corporations
This responsibility
includes
comprises the
statement of financial
position as atAct
30 2001.
June 2010,
and the statement
of establishing
and
maintainingincome,
internalstatement
controls relevant
to the
preparation
and fair presentation
comprehensive
of changes
in equity
and statement
of cash flowsof
forthe
thefinancial
year
report
that
is free
from
materialofmisstatement,
whether due
to fraud
orexplanatory
error; selecting
and
ended on
that
date,
a summary
significant accounting
policies,
other
notes
and the
applying
policies; and
making
accounting
estimates
that
reasonable
in
Directors’appropriate
declarationaccounting
of the consolidated
entity
comprising
the company
and
theare
entities
it
the
circumstances.
In Note
also state,
accordance
with Accounting Standard
controlled
at the year’s
end1a,
or the
fromDirectors
time to time
duringinthe
financial year.
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with
International
Financial Reporting
Standards.Report
Directors’ Responsibility
for the Financial

Auditor’s
Responsibility
The
Directors
of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Our responsibility
is to express
opinion
on the financial
based on our includes
audit. We
conducted
Accounting
Interpretations)
andan
the
Corporations
Act 2001.report
This responsibility
establishing
our audit
in accordance
Australian
Auditing
Auditing
Standards
that
and
maintaining
internalwith
controls
relevant
to theStandards.
preparationThese
and fair
presentation
of require
the financial
we comply
relevant
ethical requirements
todue
audit
and
plan and
perform
report
that with
is free
from material
misstatement,relating
whether
to engagements
fraud or error;
selecting
and
the auditappropriate
to obtain reasonable
assurance
the accounting
financial report
is freethat
from
applying
accounting
policies; whether
and making
estimates
arematerial
reasonable in
misstatement.
the
circumstances. In Note 1a, the Directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with
An audit involves
performing
procedures
to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
International
Financial
Reporting
Standards.
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessmentResponsibility
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or
Auditor’s
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s
preparation
and
fair presentation
of the
order
design
audit
Our
responsibility
is to
express
an opinion on
the financial
financial report
report in
based
ontoour
audit.
We procedures
conducted
thataudit
are appropriate
in the
but not
for the purpose
of expressing
an opinion
onthat
the
our
in accordance
withcircumstances,
Australian Auditing
Standards.
These Auditing
Standards
require
effectiveness
of relevant
the entity’s
internal
control. An
audit also
includes
evaluatingand
theplan
appropriateness
we
comply with
ethical
requirements
relating
to audit
engagements
and perform
of accounting
policies
used andassurance
the reasonableness
of financial
accounting
estimates
the Directors,
the
audit to obtain
reasonable
whether the
report
is freemade
fromby
material
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
misstatement.
We audit
believe
that the
audit evidence
we have
obtained
is sufficient
and appropriate
to and
provide
a basis
An
involves
performing
procedures
to obtain
audit
evidence about
the amounts
disclosures
forthe
ourfinancial
audit opinions.
in
report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinions.
BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd ABN 79 112 284 787 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO (Australia) Ltd ABN 77 050
110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd and BDO (Australia) Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK company limited
by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards
Legislation (other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees) in each State or Territory other than Tasmania.
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Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001
would be in the same terms if it had been given to the Directors at the time that this auditor’s
report was made.
Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion:
(a) the financial report of Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited is in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i)
giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June
2010 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and
(ii)
complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and
(a) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed
in Note 1a.
Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the Directors’ report for the year ended 30
June 2010. The Directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of
the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.
Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Macquarie Harbour Mining Limited for the year ended 30
June 2010, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.
BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd

Peter Toll
Director
Perth, Western Australia
Dated this 30th day of September 2010
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Distribution of Shareholders and their holdings as at 30 June 2010
Spread of Holdings
1 – 1,000

Holders

Number of
Shares

52

13,701

1,001 – 5,000

156

531,710

5,001 – 10,000

199

1,679,334

10,001 – 100,000

684

26,324,668

100,001 and over

176

58,988,847

1,267

87,538,260

Holders

Number of
Shares

4

1,892

1,001 – 5,000

51

221,125

5,001 – 10,000

36

308,050

122

4,728,133

Distribution of Option Holders and their holdings as at 30 June 2010
Spread of Holdings
1 – 1,000

10,001 – 100,000
100,001 and over

50

22,196,185

263

27,455,385

Number Held

%

10,600,006

12.11

Twenty Largest Shareholders – Ordinary Shares as at 30 June 2010
Shareholder

1

Rogers Southern Pty Ltd

2

Joseph Psereckis

2,139,000

2.44

3

Ageicion Pty Ltd

1,900,000

2.17

4

Pargi Holdings Pty Ltd

1,250,000

1.43

5

Leuchter Investments Pty Ltd

900,000

1.03

6

Gregory J Wood and Associates Pty Ltd

893,995

1.02

7

Delmere Investments Pty Ltd

893,750

1.02

8

Mark Andrew Rogers

800,985

0.92

9

Fortis Clearing Nominees Pty Ltd

766,173

0.88

10

John T Radonic

625,088

0.71

11

Junama Pty Ltd

625,000

0.71

12

Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd

601,043

0.69

13

Brad Pty Ltd

600,000

0.69

14

Olivier R Dupuy & Julie E Dupuy

600,000

0.69

15

Waye-Harris Enterprises Pty Ltd

600,000

0.69

16

Makram Hanna & Rita Hanna

592,500

0.68

17

Peter Kempinski & Paul Kempinski

562,300

0.64

18

Ross Brown

557,898

0.64

19

Murray M Bailey & Patricia J Bailey

550,000

0.63

20

Petard Pty Ltd

535,000

0.61
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Twenty Largest Listed Option Holders – 20 cents on or before 31 August 2012 as at 30 June 2010
Option Holder

Number Held

%

1

Rogers Southern Pty Ltd

6,500,003

23.67

2

Joseph Psereckis

1,050,000

3.82

3

Ageicion Pty Ltd

1,000,000

3.65

4

Peter Gebhardt & Carlene Gebhardt

851,000

3.10

5

Paul B McKee

700,000

2.55

6

Petard Pty Ltd

672,500

2.45

7

Russell Johnson

650,000

2.37

8

Wirkus Developments Pty Ltd

648,400

2.36

9

Glenn Kapernick & Janelle Kapernick

620,000

2.26

10

Trenchstones Pty Ltd

588,538

2.14

11

Gregory J Wood and Associates Pty Ltd

585,000

2.13

12

Vallelonga International Pty Ltd

500,000

1.82

13

Delmere Investments Pty Ltd

500,000

1.82

14

Jonathon B Gomez

428,069

1.56

15

Philel Pty Ltd

419,000

1.53

16

Rosamund J Banyard & Phillip S Holten

412,000

1.50

17

Vigcorp SA Pty Ltd

400,000

1.46

18

Alison E Wolfson & Andrea Wolfson

336,900

1.23

19

Steven P Bolack

307,355

1.12

20

Halifx (Mohaka) Ltd

300,000

1.09

Number Held

%

RESTRICTED SECURITIES
The Group has no restricted securities (in accordance with ASX Listing Rules).
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
The substantial shareholders as at 30 June 2010 were:
Shareholder
1

Rogers Southern Pty Ltd

10,600,006

12.11

2

Joseph Psereckis

2,139,000

2.44

3

Ageicion Pty Ltd

1,900,000

2.17

VOTING RIGHTS
Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each member present at a meeting or
by proxy has one vote on a show of hands.
Options have no voting rights until such options are exercised as fully paid ordinary shares.
ASX LISTING RULE 4.10.19
In accordance with ASX Listing Rule 4.10.19, the Group states that it has used the cash and assets in a form
readily convertible to cash that it had at the time of admission in a way consistent with it business objectives. The
business objective is primarily mineral exploration and aluminium salt slag processing.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
The name of the company secretary is Benjamin Mead.
Statement of Unquoted Securities
Number of Options

Number of Holders

Exercise Price

Date of Expiry

2,380,750

10

$0.20

31/08/2012

1,200,000

6

$0.20

28/11/2013

1,000,000

2

$0.20

14/12/2013

450,000

3

$0.25

09/10/2014

2,250,000

5

$0.28

30/11/2014

100,000

1

$0.28

05/01/2015

Option Holders with 20% or more Options expiring 31 August 2012
Option Holder

Number Held

%

Gregory J Wood and Associates Pty Ltd

859,475

36.10

Rogers Southern Pty Ltd

500,000

21.00

Ageicion Pty Ltd

500,000

21.00

Options expiring 28 November 2013
Option Holder

Number Held

%

Rogers Southern Pty Ltd

250,000

20.83

Ageicion Pty Ltd

250,000

20.83

B A Conti Pty Ltd

250,000

20.83

Philip Lucas

250,000

20.83

Number Held

%

Rogers Southern Pty Ltd

500,000

50.00

Ageicion Pty Ltd

500,000

50.00

Number Held

%

Simon H Wells

100,000

22.22

John I Richardson

200,000

44.45

Mark Rogers

150,000

33.33

Options expiring 14 December 2013
Option Holder

Options expiring 9 October 2014
Option Holder

Options expiring 30 November 2014
Option Holder

Number Held

%

Rogers Southern Pty Ltd

750,000

33.33

Ageicion Pty Ltd

750,000

33.33
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TENEMENT SCHEDULE
The group has an interest in the following tenements:
Project

Tenement

Holder

MHM Interest %

Status

Strahan

EL20/2007

Goldstock Mining Pty Ltd

100

Granted

Double Cove
Hibbs

EL21/2007

Goldstock Mining Pty Ltd

100

Granted

EL22/2007

Goldstock Mining Pty Ltd

100

Granted

Thomas Creek

EL23/2007

Goldstock Mining Pty Ltd

100

Granted

Modder River

EL61/2007

Goldstock Mining Pty Ltd

100

Granted

Macquarie Harbour

EL62/2007

Goldstock Mining Pty Ltd

100

Granted

Cape Sorell

EL63/2007

Goldstock Mining Pty Ltd

100

Granted

Marrawah

EL11/2009

Goldstock Mining Pty Ltd

100

Granted

Maydena

RL02/2003

Goldstock Mining Pty Ltd

100

Granted
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